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PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A Mercer County indictment, numbered 03-02-0286, charged
defendant, Larry Fleming, with the following three counts: 1)
first degree murder, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a, 2) first
degree felony murder, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a(3), and 3)

second degree aggravated arson, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:17-1la(l).

(attached appendix, Da 1-3)' These charges resulted from an

incident in Trenton which involved the burning of an abandoned
house inhabited by drug users.

After a three-day trial by jury before the Hon. Bill
Mathesius, J.S.C., defendant was convicted of all counts. (3T 108-
13 to 109-11)2

On April 2, 2004, the trial judge sentenced Mr. Fleming to a
life term of imprisonment for murder, subject to the 85% parole
bar of the No Early Release Act. The court merged felony murder
into murder but imposed a consecutive 10-year term of imprisonment
for aggravated arson, subject to the 85% NERA parole bar. (4T 25-
25 to 27-1)

A notice of appeal was subsequently filed with this Court.

(Da 6)

' Efforts to obtain the verdict sheet were unsuccessful. However, in the jury

charge the verdict sheet is described by the trial court in detail. (3T 96-20
to 99-20)
’ “1T" refers to the trial transcript dated February 3, 2004.
“2T" refers to the trial transcript dated February 4, 2004.
“3T" refers to the trial transcript dated February 5, 2004.
"4T" refers to the sentencing transcript dated April 2, 2004.
1




STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to Ed Warren, on May 11, 2002 he went to Stokes Bar
on Brunswick Avenue in Trenton and bought wine and beer. He then
went outside, purchased some cocaine and ran into a neighborhood
friend, Carmen Jones. They went to an abandoned house on 340
Brunswick Avenue where Jones stayed. They entered through a back
door that was partially boarded up which was the only means of

entering the house. (1T 91-6 to 94-12)

On their way to Jones’ second floor room, Warren (a/k/a “Big

Al;” 1T 133-11 to 13) saw the victim Ellis McNeil (a/k/a
“Peanut”), who was another drug user and resident of the house.
(1T 95-7 to 16) Warren and Jones went to Jones’ room and “got
high.” (1T 94-19 to 22) Jones then went out several times to buy
more drugs. As it was getting dark, defendant (a/k/a “Fruit”) came
into the room and tried to sell them some drugs. According to
Warren, defendant repeatedly asked him to buy drugs despite
Warren’s indication that he had no money. Warren admitted that he
had purchased drugs from defendant in the past and that defendant
never told him that he “owed” defendant any money. (1T 96-17 to
100-18)

After defendant left the room, Jones came running to Warren
“saying that the house was on fire.” (1T 103-5 to 7) Warren kicked

some of the boards out of a window and both he and Jones jumped




from the building. As a result, Warren fractured his left leg and

broke his ankle. (1T 103-9 to 104-13) After he fell to the

ground, Warren heard somebody from within the house yell for help.

(1T 105-3 to 11)

Warren initially did not want anyone to know that he was
inside the house, but he later gave a formal statement to the
police at a nearby hospital. (1T 107-1 to 3; 108-2 to 8) At trial,
Warren stood by the statement and indicated that he did not have
an altercation or negative encounter with anyone during the time
he was in the house. (1T 116-5 to 10) Warren also admitted that he
may have previously had sex with Jones in exchange for drugs. (1T
119-19 to 120-24)

While Jones’ testimony basically corresponded to that of
Warren regarding the incident, there were some substantial
inconsistencies. She admitted that she went out of the house
about ten times to purchase more cocaine. (1T 135-3 to 136-10)

She also indicated that there were several drug dealers on the
street and that a “few of them did come tc the house.” (1T 138-16
to 20) Contrary to Warren’s testimony that he had no money, Jones
indicated that he “was spending a large amount of money. It was
more than $30 at a time.” (1T 138-21 to 24) Jones also testified
that the victim, Peanut, was in the front room with Bernadine. (1T

139-9 to 22)




Jones also claimed that she encountered defendant on the
street who accused her of being a “cross-artist.” (1T 142-11 to
19) At first she ignored him but then responded, “How can anyone
cross you when we don’t know what time you come out?” (1T 143-9 to
14) Jones indicated that “cross-artist” meant that “we didn’t
spend money or anything with him” (1T 143-17 to 20), and that she
had purchased drugs from another drug dealer, P.J., during the
day. (1T 144-25 to 145-8)

Contrary to Warren’s testimony, Jones claimed that defendant
came into her room and accused Warren of being a “cross-artist.”
(1T 145-22 to 146-10) According to Jones, defendant left but then
came back into the house 15 minutes later with Curt Hawkins. (1T

149-4 to 150-23) She also indicated that her cousin, G.I. Joe

(a/k/a Joseph McKinney) “came from around both of them towards

me...."” (1T 150-24 to 25) Jones claimed that defendant had a
light in his hand along with a small gas can (1T 151-23 to 152-24)
but she “didn’t think nothing of it” since she “figured he was
going to put some gas in his car.” (1T 153-2 to 3)

After checking on the victim in his room, Jones went to her
room where she got high with Warren. (1T 154-23 to 21) Jones
indicated that the place was only lit by candles since they had no
electricity. (1T 156-12 to 16) She then heard someone *hollering,

fire, fire.” (1T 155-3 to 4) Jones then walked out of the room and
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started down the steps when she was “hit in the face with the

smoke and I felt the heat.” (1T 155-14 to 16) She ran back into
her room and was able to get out of the house through a window
along with Warren (a/k/a Big Al) and Joe. (1T 155-20 to 157-14)
She ran to the nearby Stoke’s Bar and called the fire department.
(1T 157-19 to 21) Jones also indicated that P.J. and his father
were trying to get into the house because someone was still
trapped in the building. (1T 157-24 to 158-17) She admitted that
she did not see defendant in the area. (1T 159-4 to 15)

While admitting that she shared her room with Warren and that
she had a $40 per day drug habit, she denied ever having sex with
him. Jones admitted that she may have had sex with Curt Hawkins,
a good friend, and also admitted that her police statement did not
reveal that Hawkins was with defendant and Joe when they walked
into the house with the gas can. (1T 179-4 to 184-2)

Joe McKinney (a/k/a GI Joe) did not have much to add about
the incident except that he had purchased drugs from defendant and

claimed that the fire occurred about a minute and half after he

saw defendant with the gas can. (1T 196-1 to 6; 200-23 to 25)

Contrary to Jones’ testimony, he made no mention of Hawkins in the

area or with defendant. (1T 197-5 to 198-12; 202-14 to 19)

Curt Hawkins, who admitted that he is a “hustler” (1T 218-23

to 24), provided the most damaging yet inconsistent testimony




regarding defendant. Hawkins indicated that defendant sold drugs
and admitted that “we worked together....” (1T 211-21 to 212-22)
In exchange for “watchling] his back,” Hawkins earned “$40 a night
and a gram [of cocaine].” (1T 214-7 to 11) On the day of the fire,
Hawkins also admitted that he worked for P.J., a rival drug
dealer. (1T 215-4 to 14)

According to Hawkins, P.J. went into the house where Jones
and Warren stayed about “seven or eight times” and sold drugs. (1T
217-21 to 218-5) Hawkins claimed that defendant was upset with
P.J.’s activities and subsequently went into the house, pushed the
door open and confronted Warren (Big Al). Contrary to Warren'’'s
testimony, Hawkins claimed that defendant demanded $50 from Warren
who denied owing defendant any money and that defendant told
Warren, “[wlell, that one more $50 be spent out of here, you
suffer the consequences.” (1T 220-2 to 11)

According to Hawkins, P.J. continued to sell drugs to Jones
and Warren. Two to three hours later while he was talking to
P.J., he saw defendant with a gas can in his hand. (1T 224-9 to
20) Hawkins claimed that defendant instructed him to get gas at a

nearby gas station because the “[l]ady across the street wants

some gas.” (1T 224-17 to 3) Hawkins returned with the gas and

received in exchange “some coke.” (1T 226-14 to 15) Hawkins

claimed that he told defendant, “If you burn [friend and neighbor]




Tony’s place down, if you do anything to hurt her, I will fuck you
up.” (1T 226-16 to 18) Hawkins further claimed that he followed
defendant and, contrary to Jones'’ testimony that he was inside the
house with defendant, testified as follows:
I said, I'm saying, like, don’t even go

there, because I'm right behind him. So when

he scoops up under the door, like, I'm just

peeping like this right under the floor, 1like,

he’s coming running, and flames is behind him.

Like, the flames, flames are like, you could

see the flames and stuff. He got the gas can,

boom, he goes through the alleyway, hit Oxford

Street, and I ain’t seen him no more after

that.
(1T 227-6 to 13) Hawkins reiterated, contrary to Jones’
testimony, that he did not even go “all the way in” the house with
defendant, but peered into the house. (1T 229-14 to 23) Hawkins
admitted that his police statement indicated that he was “in
Stokes Bar playing poker when [he] first learned of the fire” (1T
243-18 to 21) and that he was possibly afraid that the police
might think he had something to do with the fire. (1T 244-4 to 9)

Sometime around 10:15 p.m., Firefighter Clifford Willever was

dispatched to tne fire at 340 Brunswick Avenue along with several

other officers of his rescue unit. (1T 49-18 to 50-*) Willever

entered the building and made his way up the stairs to the hallway
fighting the fire when he found the victim, Ellis McNeill. (1T 55-

21 to 56-8) Other firefighters determined that McNeill was dead.




w

(1T 56-23 to 57-2) An autopsy revealed that the cause of death
was carbon monoxide poisoning. (2T 167-2 to 24)

Detective Lloyd Mathis, an arson investigator, testified that
the fire was started about 9:55 p.m. (2T 93-11 to 22) He concluded
that:

In this particular fire, somebody took an

ignitable liquid, gasoline, and poured it at

the base of the steps here, pours it through

this room, pours it into the middle room, and

then ends right up at the rear room or the

dining room area.
(2T 84-11 to 16) Detective Mathis further concluded that the
"gasoline was placed on the flooring by the front door, and it was
trailed from the front door through the first room..., through the

middle room... and then ignited in this area [the third room]” by

throwing something into the gas. (2T 90-6 to 91-15)

Throughout the trial, defense counsel brought out

inconsistencies among the witnesses and suggested to the jury

during summation that Curtis Hawkins was the arsonist. (3T 12-1 to

13-16) After instructing the jury on murder, felony murder as

well as aggravated manslaughter and reckless manslaughter, the

jury convicted defendant of all counts. (3T 108-13 Lo 109-11)
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LEGAL ARGUMENT
POINT I

THE INSTRUCTION SOLELY PERTAINING TO THE USE
OF DEFENDANT’S INVOLVEMENT IN DRUG SALES IN
“ASSESS[ING] THE IDENTIFICATION OF AND/OR THE
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE WITNESSES AND THE
DEFENDANT” WAS ERRONEOUS , REQUIRING THE
REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT’S CONVICTIONS. (Not
Raised Below)

The trial court instructed the jury as follows:

I'm going to give you a cautionary and
limiting instruction. You’ve heard testimony
in this <case that the defendant, Larry
Fleming, has been involved in narcotics sales.
Our rules of evidence in the State of New
Jersey limit the application of those acts and
preclude you from considering that evidence in
your deliberations as proof that the defendant
committed the acts alleged in the indictment.

In other words, you can’t say, Fleming is a
drug dealer, therefore, he committed the
crimes in the indictment. Prior acts can‘t be
attached to show that Mr. Fleming had a
predisposition to commit a crime and he was a
criminal, and therefore, he committed the
present offenses. You can - I should say,
evidence that a defendant has committed prior
crimes or other wrongs or acts cannot be used
by you as proof of conduct in conformance with
the charges listed in the indictment to show
further proof that he had in fact committed
the offenses in the indictment.

However, you may use the testimony to gauge
and assess the identification of and/or the
relationship between the witnesses and the
defendant. In other words, there was a history
of some prior involvement. You can use that to
determine whether Flemming was known to them
and under what circumstances he was known to
them, but you just can’‘t say he committed a

9




crime and, therefore, he committed the crime
now. I think you can understand that.

(3T 70-4 to 71-6) Since the vague instruction singled out
defendant without any mention that the jury could consider the
illegal acts of the State’s witnesses and wrongly informed the
jury that they could use defendant’s drug involvement to assess
identity, defendant’s rights to due process of law under both the

United States and New Jersey Constitutions were violated.

N.J.R.E. 404 (b) provides that:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is
not admissible to prove the disposition of a
person in order to show that he acted in
conformity therewith. Such evidence may be
admitted for other purposes, such as proof of
motive, opportunity, intent, preparation,
plan, knowledge, identity or absence of
mistake or accident when such matters are
relevant to a material issue in dispute.

Ordinarily, a hearing is required to determine the

admissibility of other-crimes evidence. See State v. Hernandez,

170 N.J. 106, 127 (2001). All four-prongs of the following test
must be satisfied before such other-crimes evidence can be
admitted:

1. The evidence of the other crime mus. be
admissible as relevant to a material issue;

2. It must be similar in kind and reasonably
close in time to the offense charged;

3. The evidence of the other crime must be
clear and convincing; and

10
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4. The probative value of the evidence must
not be outweighed by its apparent prejudice.

State v. G.V., 162 N.J. 252, 257 (2000), quoting State v. Marrero,

148 N.J. 469, 482-83 (1997), quoting State v. Cofield, 127 N.J.

328, 338 (1992); see also State v. Darby, 174 N.J. 509, 518-519

(2002) ; Hernandez, 170 N.J. at 118-119; State v. Sanders, 320 N.dJ.

Super. 574, 581 (App. Div. 1999).

Moreover, once it has been determined that other-crimes
evidence is admissible for some limited purpose, “the court must
instruct the jury on the limited use of the evidence.” Cofield,
127 N.J. at 340-41. Since the other-crimes evidence is so
“inherently prejudicial,” the 1limiting instruction “should be
formulated carefully to explain precisely the permitted and
prohibited purposes of the evidence, with sufficient reference to
the factual context of the case to enable the jury to comprehend

and appreciate the fine distinction to which it is required to

adhere.” Cofield, 127 N.J. at 341; see also State v. Oliver, 133

N.J.

141, 156-159 (1993); Sanders, 320 N.J. Super. at 584-586.

Here, the jurors were wrongly told that they could use

defendant’s drug involvement to assess identity -- the sole issue

in the case. However, admission of other-crimes evidence to prove

identity requires the application of a more rigorous standard as

follows:



d

d

In order for evidence of a prior crime to be
admissible on the issue of identity... the
prior criminal activity with which defendant
is identified must be so nearly identical in
method as to earmark the crime as defendant’s
handiwork. The conduct in question must be
unusual and distinctive so as to be like a
signature, and there must be proof of
sufficient facts in both crimes to establish
an unusual pattern.

State v. Fortin, 162 N.J. 517, 530 (2000), quoting State v.

Reldan, 185 N.J. Super. 494, 502-03 (App. Div.), certif. den. 91

N.J. 543 (1982); see also State v. Sempsey, 141 N.J. Super. 317,

323 (App. Div. 1976), certif. den. 74 N.J. 272 (1977).

Here, defendant’s involvement with drugs had virtually no
similarity whatsoever with arson, much less establishing an
“unusual pattern” or that the crimes were committed in some novel
or extraordinary way. Rather than a limitation, the instruction
that the jurors could consider defendant’s drug involvement as
germane to identity smacks of the propensity prohibition -- since
defendant dealt in illegal drugs he must be the arsonist.

Even assuming arguendo that “invole[ment] in drug sales” was

part and parcel of the offense and therefore res gestae warranting

no instruction (see generally State v. L.P., 338 N... Super. 227,

235 (App. Div.), certif. den. 170 N.J. 205 (2001)), the error of

telling the jurors that they could use defendant’s drug

involvement to assess identity still mandates reversal of

defendant’s convictions. See State v. Wilson, 128 N.J. 233, 241

12



(1992) (“incorrect instructions of law are poor candidates for

rehabilitation under the harmless error theory”); cf. Marrero, 148

N.J. at 496 (while incomplete limiting instruction was not plain
error, Court insinuates “affirmative misstatement of the law”
falls within Wilson’s per se reversible error mandate). The
court’s instruction singled out defendant as the only person whose
drug involvement the jury could specifically consider. In the
absence of any instruction, the jury would hardly use defendant’s
drug involvement in itself against him since all of the other
material witnesses were either drug users and/or sellers (e.g.
Hawkins who testified that he helped both P.J. and defendant sell
drugs). The instruction, solely aimed at defendant, also
insinuated that the involvement of the State’s witnesses with

drugs could not be used for any purpose.

Finally, apart from the error regarding use of defendant’'s

drug involvement to assess identity, the instruction at best is

vague and does not “explain precisely the permitted and prohibited

purposes of the evidence, with sufficient reference to the factual

context of the case to enable the jury to comprehend and

appreciate the fine distinction to which it is required to

adhere.” Cofield, 127 N.J. at 341; see also Hernandez, 170 N.J. at

131. Allowing the jurors to take into account defendant’'s

involvement with drugs to assess “the relationship between the

13



witnesses and the defendant” could mean anything, and does not
even remotely limit the use of defendant’s drug involvement to

accepted uses of other-crimes evidence such as proof of motive,

opportunity, and intent as set forth in N.J.R.E. 404(b).

Since the instruction regarding the use of defendant'’s drug
involvement singled out defendant without mention of the State
witness’ drug activities and wrongly told the jurors that they
could use defendant’s drug involvement to assess identity, this
Court should reverse defendant’s convictions and remand the matter

for a new trial.

POINT II
THE JUDGE REPEATEDLY MISINFORMED THE JURORS
THAT THEIR ROLE WAS TO DETERMINE THE “GUILT OR
INNOCENCE” OF DEFENDANT, THEREBY REDUCING THE
STATE’'S BURDEN IN PROVING DEFENDANT’S GUILT
BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT. (Not Raised Below)

The trial court thrice misinformed the jurors that their role
was to determine the “guilt or innocence” of defendant, thereby
denying defendant due process of law and a fair trial under both
the United States and New Jersey Constitutions.

At the end of the instruction on expert testimony, the trial
judge told the jurors that:

It’s your - ultimately your determination
to make, and you, as I said, you can rely on

some or all or none of the expert testimony or
the witnesses themselves, however you conclude

14




in your collective sense. That determination
of the ultimate guilt or innocence remains and
is always in the province of the jury.

(3T 66-19 to 25; emphasis added)
The judge again misinformed the jury -- this time in the
context of the homicide charges -- that:

So we’re talking about the hierarchy, in
this case, Count 1, murder. You’ll make a
determination as to the guilt or innocence. If
you find him not guilty, then you come down
and you consider aggravated manslaughter.

(3T 81-11 to 13; emphasis added)
The judge yet again, for the third time -- in explaining the
verdict sheet -- misinformed the jury that:

If you find guilty, you skip over the next,
C, and you go to question 2. If you find not
guilty, then you go and assess the guilt or
innocence of the lesser-included offense of
reckless manslaughter in that the defendant,
Larry Flemming did recklessly cause the death
of Ellis McNeill....

(3T 97-23 to 98-3) These erroneous instructions went to the very

heart of the jury’s role in assessing whether the State proved

that defendant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt and therefore

were clearly capable of producing an unjust result.

The United States Supreme Court has steadfastly emphasized

the fundamental importance of the due process standard of guilt

beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466,

478-79, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 2355-56 (2000); United States v. Gaudin,

15



515 U.S. 506, 509-11, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 2313-2314 (1995) ; Victor v.

Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 5, 114 S.Ct. 1239, 1242 (1994); Sullivan v.
Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 277-78, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2080 (1993).

Our Supreme Court has succinctly summarized the State’s
exclusive burden of proving a defendant’s guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt and the importance of a relevant jury
instruction:

Under the Sixth Amendment, the jury, not
the court, determines guilt in a serious
criminal case. [citations omitted] Due process
mandates that "the jury verdict required by
the Sixth Amendment is a jury verdict of
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." Sullivan,
supra, 508 U.S. at 278, 113 S.Ct. at 2081, 124
L.Ed.2d at 188. A jury instruction that fails
to communicate the State’s burden to prove
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is not
amenable to harmless-error analysis and
requires reversal. Id. at 278-81, 113 S.Ct. at
2081-83, 124 L.Ed.2d at 189-90.

State v. Medina, 147 N.J. 43, 50 (1996), cert. den. 520 U.S. 1190

(1997) ; see also State v. Fuqua, 303 N.J. Super. 40, 45 (App. Div.

1997) .

While the trial court gave a standard instruction on

reasonable doubt and the presumption of innocence (3T 57-2 to 58-

13), it did not dispel the grossly erroneous instructions that the

jurors were obliged to determine defendant’s guilt or innocence.

The instructions improperly informed the jurors that there were

only two choices: that defendant was either guilty or he was

16




innocent. The improper instructions had the effect of reducing
the State’s burden since the State’s failure to prove any element
of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt would hardly compel a
juror to think that defendant, then, is innocent. Therefore,
where a juror thought that defendant was probably guilty but had a
reasonable doubt about an element or whether he was the arsonist
rather than Hawkins, the juror would have been compelled to
convict since the only other choice was finding defendant
“innocent."”

Instructions relating to the reasonable doubt standard "must
be considered in their entirety." Medina, 147 N.J. at 52. Here,
however, the instructions regarding the jury’s role to determine
“guilt or innocence” derailed a juror’s fundamental role in
determining whether defendant was guilty or not guilty and were
not the sort of instructions that could be cured by a later

accurate but abstract instruction on reasonable doubt. See State

V. Moore, 122 N.J. 420, 433 (1991) (*[clontradictory and

inconsistent charges are inherently inadequate as they ‘create
iikelihood that a juror understood the instructions in an
unconstitutional manner...’" [citations omitted]). Moreover, such
erroneous instructions, regarding easily understood notions of
“guilt or innocence,” are far more palatable to a lay juror than

other more abstract embellishments on the reasonable doubt

17




standard, especially in light of the nuances of inconsistent

testimony. Cf. Medina, 147 N.J. at 52-53(improper phrase “when
we talk about a reasonable doubt we mean doubt from which a reason
can be given” ameliorated by subsequent instruction immediately

following the phrase); State v. Love, 245 N.J. Super. 195, 200

(App. Div.), certif. den. 126 N.J. 321 (1991) (telling jurors that
their “sole interest is to ascertain the truth on the evidence” in
context of charges was “used in an abstract sense and not as an
admonition to resolve specific factual disputes”).

Furthermore, there is no way to assess the impact that the
erroneous instructions had on the jury. Therefore, the

instructions, going to the very heart of the jurors’ role in a

criminal trial, were “structural error [s]” and not amenable to

harmless error review. See Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619,

629, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 1717 (1993), quoting Arizona v. Fulminante,

499 U.S. 279, 307-8, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1264 (1991) (State’s improper

use of a defendant’s post-Miranda silence to impeach defendant was

a harmless “trial error”); compare Sullivan, 508 U.S. 275, 113

S.Ct. 2078 (Cage instruction [Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 39-

40, 111 s.Ct. 328, 329 (1990)], equating reasonable doubt with

“grave uncertainty” and “actual substantial doubt,” was a

structural error not amenable to harmless error analysis) with

Victor, 511 U.S. at 16-20, 114 S.Ct. at 1248-50 (7-2

18
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decision) (distinguishing Cage since instructions -- peppered with
phrases regarding “moral certainty,” “moral evidence,” “strong
probabilities of the case,” and “substantial doubt” -- overall,
satisfied due process standard).

Finally, in a recent case where the trial court employed the
same “guilt or innocence” phrase in jury instructions, this Court

acknowledged that:

The trial judge provided a reasonable doubt
charge consistent with the rule announced in
[Medina, supra]. The injection of the concept
of innocence, however, may tend to reduce the
State’s burden of proof because of the starkly
different choices presented to the jury.
Therefore, the use of the term “guilt or
innocence” should be avoided in the future.

State v. White, 360 N.J. Super. 406, 413 (App. Div. 2003).

However, the White court wrongly rebuffed the impact of the error:

Although we do not consider the use of the
phrase “guilt or innocence” throughout the
charge error which in isolation would require
a new trial, we comment on its use because a
new trial on count two is required.

White, 360 N.J. Super. at 413. The White Court’s insinuation

that the “guilt or innocence” phrase is subject to harmless-error

review is contrary to the admonition by our Supreme Court that, “A

jury instruction that fails to communicate the State’s burden to

prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is not amenable to harmless-

error analysis and requires reversal.” Medina, 147 N.J. at 50. As

acknowledged by the White Court, *[t]he injection of the concept
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of innocence... may tend to reduce the State’s burden of
proof....” Id. An instruction that has the capacity to reduce the

State’s burden of proof pertains to a fundamental matter as

acknowledged by the State and Federal courts. Therefore, in tune

with the litany of case law that mandates reversal of convictions
resulting from instructional errors regarding fundamental matters,

Mr. Fleming’s convictions must be reversed.
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society since the day, at least as early as 14 years of age.”
(4T 22-5 to 8) The trial judge continued: “The risk and the
guarantee if Mr. Fleming were permitted to set foot away from
the bars that would keep him incarcerated, I hope for the rest
of his life.... because he knows absolutely nothing else in
his life but being a parasite.” (4T 22-17 to 20) The judge
then took it upon himself to provide an unsupported
psychological assessment of defendant, further undermining his
impartiality: “In psychological terms, Mr. Fleming is
psychologically incapable, being possessed of what, say
psycho-analytically, he does not have a super ego, he has no
conscience, he has no remorse, he has no care, and it won’t
deter him....” (4T 24-16 to 20)

Since the trial judge expressed such personal hostility
against Fleming that went beyond assessment of the mitigating
and aggravating factors and undermined even an appearance of
impartiality, this Court at the very least should remand the

matter to a different trial court for a complete re-

sentencing. See Rule 1:12-1(f) (court should disqualify itself

if, among other things, “there is any other reason which might

preclude a fair and unbiased hearing and judgment, or which

might reasonably lead counsel or the parties to believe so") .
In addition, the trial court'’'s imposition of a

consecutive sentence for the aggravated arson charge was
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unfounded. While the arson charge, as the Predicate felony,
does not merge into murder, every single Yarbough factor
compels the imposition of a concurrent sentence for the arson

conviction. See State v.

Carey, 168 N.J. 413, 421-22 (2001),

quoting State v. Yarbough, 100 N.J. 627, 643-44 (1985)(setting

forth the factors).

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated in Points T and II, Mr.
Fleming’s convictions must be reversed and the matter
remanded for a new trial. Alternatively, the matter should
be remanded for re-sentencing for the reasons set forth in

Point III.

Respectfully submitted,

YVONNE SMITH SEGARS
Public Defender

Attorpey, r Defend
O ——
BY: |

LON TAYLOR, A.ng?;.

DATED: August 21, 2006




MERCER COUNTY PROSECUTOR . SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY

MERCER COUNTY COURT HOUSE MERCER COUNTY
TRENTON, NEW JERSEY LAW DIVISION - CRIMINAL

Telephone (609) 989-6305

FILE NO. 02-180
INDICTMENT NO. 56-02-02?ULI

THF STATE OF NEW JERSEY STATED SESSION January 2003

\ v, TERM July 2002

\
\
LARRY FLEMING,

DEFENDANT

COUNT I
MURDER (FIRST DEGREE)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of
Mercer, upon their oaths, present that LARRY FLEMING

\

on or about the 1lth day of May, 2002, in the City of Trenton in the

.

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did

purposely or knowingly did cause the death of Ellis McNeil or
purposely or knowingly did inflict serious bodily injury resulting in
death, contrary to the provisions of N.J.§. 2C:11-3a(3), and against

the peace of this State, the Government and dignity of the same.




COUNT II - MURDER (FELONY MURDER)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of
Mercer, upon their oaths, present that LARRY FLEMING

on or about the 11th day of May, 2002, in the City of Trenton in the

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did

cause the death of Ellis McNeil during the commission of, the attempt

to commit, or flight after committing the crime of aggravated arson,

contrary to the provisions of N.J.S. 2C:11-3a(3), and against the

peace of this State, the Government and dignity of the same.




COUNT IIT- AGGRAVATED ARSON (SECOND DEGREE)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of

Mercer, upon their oaths present that LARRY FLEMING

on or about the 11th day of May, 2002, in the City of Trenton in the

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court,

did

start a fire, thereby purposely or knowingly placing another in

danger of death or bodily injury, contrary to the provisions of

N.J.S. 2C:17-1a(l), and against the peace of "  this State,

Government and dignity of the same.

ENDORSED AS A TRUE BILL:

ond 2

‘Mercer County Prosecutor

DATE: 27/7,{//3
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State of New Jersey

New Jersey Superior Court
Law Division — Criminal

85% Rule Applies.

Count 2- To merge into count 1.
Count 3- Committed to the Custody of the Commissioner Department of Corrections for a term of 10 years.
Minimum Parole Ineligibility of 8.5 years. Count 3 is to run consecutive to count 1.

Itis, therefore, on 4/2/04 ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the defendant is sentenced as follows:
A jury found the defendant guilty of counts 1,2 & 3.
Count 1- Committed to the Custody of the Commissioner Department of Corrections for a term of 75 years.

[0 The defendant is hereby sentenced to community supervision for life.

X The defendant is hereby ordered to serve a 5_year term of parole supervision which term shall begin as soon as defendant
completes the sentence of incarceration.

[J The court finds that the defendant’s conduct was characterized by a pattern of repetitive and compulsive behavior.
[O The court finds that the defendant is amenable to sex offender treatment.

[0 The court finds that the defendant is willing to participate in sex offender treatment.
[J The defendant is hereby ordered to provide a DNA sample and ordered to pay the costs for testing of the sample provided.

V. Mercer County
Defendant: Larry Fleming [X] JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
(Specifv Complete Name)
DATE OF BIRTH SBI NUMBER 8053578 [J CHANGE OF JUDGMENT
1716/74 [] ORDER FOR COMMITMENT
DATE OF ARREST & /0/02 DATE INDICTMENT/ 2/28/03 [J INDICTMENT / ACCUSATION DISMISSED
DATE OF ﬁi‘:{?&lw [0 JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
ORIGINALPLEA  4/58/03 *Amended 3" count to aggravated
B NotGuity  [] Guilty arson on May 18, 2004.
ADJUDICATION BY
[J cuwrypiea DATE: [J Non-JurY TRIAL DATE:
X wury TrRiaL DATE: February 3-5, 2004 [] oisMmiSSED/ACQUITTED  DATE:
ORIGINAL CHARGES
IND/ACC NO. COUNT DESCRIPTION DEGREE STATUTE
03-02-0286 1 Murder ™ 2C:11-3a(3)
2 Murder (Felony Murder) 1 2C:11-3a(3)
3 Aggravated Arson 2™ 2C:17-1a(1)
FINAL CHARGES
COUNT DESCRIPTION DEGREE STATUTE
1 Murder ;o 2C:11-3a(3)
2 Murder (Felony Murder) ™ 2C:11-3a(3)
3 Aggravated Arson o™ 2C:17-1a(1)

[J 1tis further ORDERED that the sheriff deliver the defendant to the appropriate correctional authority.

DATE: (From/To)
TOTAL NUMBER OF DAYS
[ Defendantis to receive credit for time spent in custody (R. 3:21-8). 664 6/9/02-4/2/04
DATE: (FromvTo)
[J Defendantis to receive gap time credit for time spent in custody Z,?K‘.‘,’; DATE: (From'To)
(N.J.SA. 2C:44-5b(2)). DATE: (FromTo)

10

Count 1-
75yrs. 85%
Total Custodial Term  Count 3-

years/MPI

8.5 years _

Institution CCDC

Total Probation Term

Adminisirative Office uf the Counts
Slate Bureau of idenufication

COPIES TO: CMIEF PROBATION OFFICER STATE POLICE

4 a

AOC CRIMINAL PRACTICE DIVISION

Page
DEPT OF CORRECTIONS OR COUNTY PENAL INSTITUTION
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State of New Jersey v. Larry Fleming

SB.L# 8053578 Ind/Acc#  03-02-0286

Total Fine §
Total RESTITUTION §

If the offense occurred on or after December 23, 1991, an
assessment of $50 is imposed on each count on which the
defendant was convicted unless the box below indicates a
higher assessment pursuant to N.J.S.A. 2C:43-3.1.
(Assessment is $30 if offense is on or after January 9,
1986 but before December 23, 1991, unless a higher
penalty is noted. Assessment is $25 if offense is before
January 9, 1986.)

B Assessmentimposed on
count(s) 1.3
is $100.00 each.

Total VCCB Assessment $200.00

Instaliment payments are due at the rate of
S per
beginning

(Date)

If any of the offenses occurred on or after July 9, 1987, and is for a violation of Chapter,
35 or 36 of Title 2C,

1) A mandatory Drug Enforcement and Demand Reduction (D.E.D.R.) penalty is
imposed for each count. (Write in # times for each.)

1* Degree @ $3000 4™ Degree @ $750
2™ Degree @ $2000 Disorderly Persons or Petty
3" Degree @ $1000 Disorderly Persons @ $500

Total D.E.D.R. Penalty §

[ Court further Orders that collection of the D.E.D.R. penalty be suspended upon
defendant’s entry into a residential drug program for the term of the program.
2) A forensic laboratory fee of $50 per offense is ORDERED. Offenses @ $50.

Total Lab Fee $

3) Name of Drugs involved
4) A mandatory driver’s license suspension of ______ months is ORDERED.
The suspension shall begin today, andend ____.
Driver’s License Number

(IF THE COURT IS UNABLE TO COLLECT THE LICENSE, PLEASE ALSO COMPLETE THE
FOLLOWING.)

Defendant’s Address
Eye Color Sex Date of Birth  1/16/74
[J The defendant is the holder of an out-of-state driver’s license from the following
jurisdiction . Driver's License Number
D Defendant’s non-resident driving privileges are hereby revoked for months.

If the offense occurred on or after February 1, 1993 but was before March 13, 1995 and the sentence is to probation or to a state correctional facility, a transaction fee of up

occasion when a payment is made. (P.L. 1995, c. 9).

to $1.00 is ordered for each occasion when a pay or ir pay
sentence is to probation, or the sentence otherwise requires payments of financial obligations to the probation division, a transaction fee of up to $2.00 is ordered for each

tis made. (P.L. 1992, c. 169). If the offense occurred on or after March 13, 1995 and the

(P.L. 1993, ¢c.220) 75x2=150.00

If the offense occurred on or after August 2, 1993, a $75 Safe Neighborhood Services Fund assessment is ordered for each conviction.

(P.L. 1993, c. 275) Amount per month § "

If the offense occurred on or after January 5, 1994 and the sentence is to probation, a fee of up to $25 per month for the probationary term is ordered.

If the crime occurred on or after January 9, 1997, a $30 Law Enforcement Officers Training and Equipment Fund penalty is ordered. 30x2=60.00

each of these offenses.

If the crime occurred on or after May 4, 2001, and the defendant has been convicted of aggravated sexual assault, aggravated criminal sexual contact, kidnapping under
2C:13-1¢(2), endanger the welfare of a child by engaging in sexual conduct which would impair or de-aucn the morals of a minor under 2C:24-4a, endangering the welfare
of a child pursuant to 2C:24-4b(4), luring or enticing a child pursuant to 2C:13-6, criminal sexual contact pursuant to 2C:14-3b if the victim is a minor, kidnapping pursuant to
2C:13-1, criminal restraint pursuant to 2C:13-2 or false imprisonment pursuant to 2C:13-3 if the victim is a minor and the offender is not the parent, promoting child
prostitution pursuant to 2C:34-1b(3) or (4), or an attempt to commit any of these crimes, a $800 Statewide Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program Penalty is ordered for

Name (Court Clerk or Person preparing this form) Telephone Number Name ( y for Dx atS 9)

L. Lucas 609-571-4135 Vernon Clash, Esq.

STATEMENT OF REASONS - Include all applicable aggravating and mitigating factors

weighed and stated on the record.

This defendant was found guilty of counts 1,2,3. The court found aagravating factors; (1) The nature and circumstances
of the offense, and the role of the actor therein, including whether or not it was committed in an especially heinous,
cruel, or depraved manner; (2) The gravity and seriousness of harm inflicted on the victim, including whether or not the
defendant knew or reasonably should have known that the victim of the offense was particu..rly vulnerable or incapable
of resistance due to advanced age, ill-health, or extreme youth, or was for any other reason substantially incapable or
exercising normal physical or mental power of resistance; (3) The risk that the defendant will commit another offense;
(6) The extent of the defendant's prior criminal record and the seriousness of the offenses of which he/she has been
convicted; (9) The need for deterring the defendant and others from violating the law; (11) The imposition of a fine,
penalty or order of restitution without also imposing a term of imprisonment would be perceived by the defendant or
others merely as part of the cost of doing business, or as an acceptable contingent business or operating expense
associated with the initial decision to resort to unlawful practices. The court found no mitigating factors. The court is
clearly convinced that the aggravating factors substantially yweigh the mitigating factors. Reasons for sentence

Judge (Name)

Bill Mathesius, J.S.C.

(Signature Date

5/18/04

Administrative Ofiice of the Courts
State Bureav of Identfication

COPIES TO: CHIEF PROBATION OFFICER STATE POLICE  AOC CRIMINAL PRACTICE DMVISION DEPT OF CORRECTIONS OR COUNTY PENAL INSTITUTION
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YVONNE SMITH SEGARS APPELLATE DMISION

- Public Defender

- Office of the Public Defender

Appellate Section m 0 5 m
31 Clinton Street, 9th Floor

P.O. Box 46003
Newark, New Jersey 07101 %/%ﬂ”
(973) 877-1200 :IEI‘ ' A~ ,a‘f] _Ok‘_l.-y

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
APPELLATE DIVISION

IND. NO(S). 03-02-0286

ACC. NO(S).

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, 2 CRIMINAL, ACTION

Plaintiff-Respondent, : NOTICE OF APPEAL

of Chapter

v.
LARRY FLEMING,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the defendant, Larry Fleming, confined
at New Jersey State Prison, Second & Cass Streets, P.0O. Box 861,
Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0861 appeals to this Court from the
final judgment of conviction of murder and aggravated arson entered
on April 2, 2004, as amended May 18, 2004 in the Superior Court,

Law Division, Mercer County, in which a sentence of 75 years with

an 85% parole disqualifier, consecutive to 10 years with an - 8.5
year parole disqualifier; $200.00 VCCB penalty; $150.00 SNSF

penalty; $60.00 LEOTEF was imposed by the Honorable Bill Mathesius,

~

J.8.C.

YVONNE SMITH SEGARS
Public Defender
Attorney for

LOUIS G. LLA
ssistant Deputy Public Defender
Intake Unit
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to Ed Warren, on May 11, 2002 he went to Stokes Bar
on Brunswick Avenue in Trenton and bought wine and beer. He then
went outside, purchased some cocaine and ran into a neighborhood
friend, Carmen Jones. They went to an abandoned house on 340
Brunswick Avenue where Jones stayed. They entered through a back
door that was partially boarded up which was the only means of
entering the house. (1T 91-6 to 94-12)

Oon their way to Jones’ second floor room, Warren (a/k/a “Big
Al;” 1T 133-11 to 13) saw the victim Ellis McNeil (a/k/a

“peanut”), who was another drug user and resident of the house.

(1T 95-7 to 16) Warren and Jones went to Jones’ room and “got

high.” (1T 94-19 to 22) Jones then went out several times to buy
more drugs. As it was getting dark, defendant (a/k/a “Fruit”) came
into the room and tried to sell them some drugs. According to
Warren, defendant repeatedly asked him to buy drugs despite
Warren’s indication that he had no money. Warren admitted that he
had purchased drugs from defendant in the past and that defendant
never told him that he “owed” defendant any money. .T 96-17 to
100-18)

After defendant left the room, Jones came running to Warren
“saying that the house was on fire.” (1T 103-5 to 7) Warren kicked

some of the boards out of a window and both he and Jones jumped

4




from the building. As a result, Warren fractured his left leg and
broke his ankle. (1T 103-9 to 104-13) After he fell to the
ground, Warren heard somebody from within the house yell for help.
(1T 105-3 to 11)

Warren initially did not want anyone to know that he was

inside the house, but he later gave a formal statement to the

police at a nearby hospital. (1T 107-1 to 3; 108-2 to 8) At trial,

Warren stood by the statement and indicated that he did not have
an altercation or negative encounter with anyone during the time
he was in the house. (1T 116-5 to 10) Warren also admitted that he
may have previously had sex with Jones in exchange for drugs. (1T
119-19 to 120-24)

While Jones’ testimony basically corresponded to that of
Warren regarding the incident, there were some substantial
inconsistencies. She admitted that she went out of the house
about ten times to purchase more cocaine. (1T 135-3 to 136-10)
She also indicated that there were several drug dealers on the
street and that a “few of them did come to the house.” (1T 138-16
to 20) Contrary to Warren’'s testimony that hs had nc money, Jones
indicated that he “was spending a large amount of money. It was
more than $30 at a time.” (1T 138-21 to 24) Jones also testified

that the victim, Peanut, was in the front room with Bernadine. (1T

139-9 to 22)

§




Jones also claimed that she encountered defendant on the

street who accused her of being a “cross-artist.” (1T 142-11 to
19) At first she ignored him but then responded, “How can anyone
cross you when we don’t know what time you come out?” (1T 143-9 to
14) Jones indicated that “cross-artist” meant that “we didn’t
spend money or anything with him” (1T 143-17 to 20), and that she
had purchased drugs from another drug dealer, P.J., during the
day. (1T 144-25 to 145-8)

Contrary to Warren'’'s testimony, Jones claimed that defendant
came into her room and accused Warren of being a “cross-artist.”
(1T 145-22 to 146-10) According to Jones, defendant left but then
came back into the house 15 minutes later with Curt Hawkins. (1T
149-4 to 150-23) She also indicated that her cousin, G.I. Joe
(a/k/a Joseph McKinney) “came from around both of them towards
me....” (1T 150-24 to 25) Jones claimed that defendant had a
light in his hand along with a small gas can (1T 151-23 to 152-24)
but she “didn’t think nothing of it” since she “figured he was

going to put some gas in his car.” (1T 153-2 to 3)

After checking on the victim in his room, Jones went to her

room where she got high with Warren. (1T 154-23 to 21) Jones

indicated that the place was only lit by candles since they had no

electricity. (1T 156-12 to 16) She then heard someone “hollering,

fire, fire.” (1T 155-3 to 4) Jones then walked out of the room and

(4




started down the steps when she was shit in the face with the

smoke and I felt the heat.” (1T 155-14 to 16) she ran back into

her room and was able to get out of the house through a window

along with Warren (a/k/a Big Al) and Joe. (1T 155-20 to 157-14)

She ran to the nearby Stoke’s Bar and called the fire department.

(1T 157-19 to 21) Jones also indicated that P.J. and his fathe:

were trying to get into the house because someone was still

trapped in the building. (1T 157-24 to 158-17) She admitted that

she did not see defendant in the area. (1T 159-4 to 15)

While admitting that she shared her room with Warren and that

she had a $40 per day drug habit, she denied ever having sex with

ex with Curt Hawkins,

him. Jones admitted that she may have had s

a good friend, and also admitted that her police statement did not

reveal that Hawkins was with defendant and Joe when they walked

into the house with the gas can. (1T 179-4 to 184-2)

Joe McKinney (a/k/a GI Joe) did not have much to add at ..

the incident except that he had purchased drugs from defend- .c and

claimed that the fire occurred about a minute and half af .<r he

saw defendant with the gas can. (1T 196-1 to 6; 20C-23 to 25)

Contr»~y tc Jones' testimony, he made no mention of Hawkins in the

area or with defendant. (1T 197-5 to 198-12; 202-14 to 19)

curt Hawkins, who admitted that he is a shustler”* (1T 218-23

to 24), provided the most damaging yet inconsistent testimony

7
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regarding defendant. Hawkins indicated that defendant sold drugs

and admitted that “we worked together....” (1T 211-21 to 212-22)

In exchange for “watch[ing] his back,” Hawkins earned “$40 a night
and a gram [of cocaine].” (1T 214-7 to 11) On the day of the fire,
Hawkins also admitted that he worked for P.J., a rival drug
dealer. (1T 215-4 to 14)

According to Hawkins, P.J. went into the house where Jones
and Warren stayed about “seven or eight times” and sold drugs. (1T
217-21 to 218-5) Hawkins claimed that defendant was upset with
P.J.'s activities and subsequently went into the house, pushed the
door open and confronted Warren (Big Al). Contrary to Warren'’s
testimony, Hawkins claimed that defendant demanded $50 from Warren
who denied owing defendant any money and that defendant told
Warren, “[wlell, that one more $50 be spent out of here, you
suffer the consequences.” (1T 220-2 to 11)

According to Hawkins, P.J. continued to sell drugs to Jones
and Warren. Two to three hours later while he was talking to
P.J., he saw defendant with a gas can in his hand. (1T 224-9 to
20) Hawkins claimed that defendant instructed him to get gas at a
nearby gas station because the “[1]ady across the street wants

some gas.” (1T 224-17 to 3) Hawkins returned with the gas and

received in exchange “some coke.” (1T 226-14 to 15) Hawkins

claimed that he told defendant, “If you burn [friend and neighbor]
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I will fuck you

Tony's place down, if you do anything to hurt her,

up.” (1T 226-16 to 18) Hawkins further claimed that he followed

defendant and, contrary to Jones’ testimony that he was inside the

house with defendant, testified as follows:

I said, I'm saying, like, don’t even go
there, because I'm right behind him. So when
he scoops up under the door, like, I'm just
peeping like this right under the floor, like,
he’s coming running, and flames is behind him.
Like, the flames, flames are like, you could
see the flames and stuff. He got the gas can,
boom, he goes through the alleyway, hit Oxford
Street, and I ain’t seen him no more after

that.
(1T 227-6 to 13) Hawkins reiterated, contrary to Jones’

testimony, that he did not even go w311 the way in” the house with

defendant, but peered into the house. (1T 229-14 to 23) Hawkins

admitted that his police statement indicated that he was “in

Stokes Bar playing poker when [he] first learned of the fire” (1T

243-18 to 21) and that he was possibly afraid that the police

might think he had something to do with the fire. (1T 244-4 to 9)

Sometime around 10:15 p.m., Firefighter Cclifford Wwillever was

dispatched to the fire at 340 Brunswick Avenue along with several

other officers of his rescue unit. (1T 49-18 to 50-4) Willever

entered the building and made his way up the stairs to the hallway

fighting the fire when he found the victim, Ellis McNeill. (1T 55-

21 to 56-8) Other firefighters determined that McNeill was dead.
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(1T 56-23 to 57-2) An autopsy revealed that the cause of death

was carbon monoxide poisoning. (2T 167-2 to 24)

Detective Lloyd Mathis, an arson investigator, testified that

the fire was started about 9:55 p.m. (2T 93-11 to 22) He concluded

that:

In this particular fire, somebody took an
ignitable liquid, gasoline, and poured it at
the base of the steps here, pours it through
this room, pours it into the middle room, and
then ends right up at the rear room or the

dining room area.

(2T 84-11 to 16) Detective Mathis further concluded that the

“gasoline was placed on the flooring by the front door, and it was

trailed from the front door through the first room..., through the

middle room... and then ignited in this area [the third room]” by

throwing something into the gas. (2T 90-6 to 91-15)

Throughout the trial, defense counsel brought out

inconsistencies among the witnesses and suggested to the jury

during summation that Curtis Hawkins was the arsonist. (3T 12-1 to

13-16) After instructing the jury on murder, felony murder as
well as aggravated manslaughter and reckless manslaughter, the

jury convicted defendant of all counts. (3T 108-13 to 109-11)
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MERCER COUNTY PROSECUTOR .

MERCER COUNTY COURT HOUSE
TRENTON, NEW JERSEY
Telephone (609) 989-6305

THF STATE OF NEW JERSEY

\ v

\

LARAT FLEMING,

! DEFENDANT

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
MERCER COUNTY
LAW DIVISION - CRIMINAL

FILE NO. 02-180
INDICTMENT NO. 56~02—02?ULI

STATED SESSION January 2003

TERM July 2002

COUNT I
MURDER (FIRST DEGREE)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of

Mercer, upon their oaths, present that LARRY FLEMING
S

(&)

n or about the 11th day of May, 2002, in the City of Trenton in the

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did

purposely or knowingly did cause

the death of Ellis McNeil or

ourposely or knowingly did inflict serious bodily injury resulting in

jeath, contrary to the provisions of N.J.S§. 2C:11-3a(3),

-he peace of this State, the Government and dignity of the same.

and against




COUNT II - MURDER (FELONY MURDER)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of

Mercer, upon their oaths, present that LARRY FLEMING

on or about the 11th day of May, 2002, in the City of Trenton in the

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did
cause the death of Ellis McNeil during the commission of, the attempt

to commit, or flight after committing the crime of aggravated arson,

contrary to the provisions of N.J.S. 2C:11-3a(3), and against the

peace of this State, the Government and dignity of the same.




COUNT II[- AGGRAVATED ARSON (SECOND DEGREE)

The Grand Jurors of the State of New Jersey, for the County of

Mercer, upon their oaths present that LARRY FLEMING
2002, in the City of Trenton in the
did

on or about the 11th day of May,

County aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this Court,

start a fire, thereby purposely or knowingly placing another in

danger of death or bodily injury, contrary to the
peace of ~ this State, the

provisions of

N.J.S. 2C:17-1a(l1), and against the

Government and dignity of the same.

— “Foreperson_#_~" ‘Mercer County Prosecutor

DATE: 2//)//&5

pPc




State of New Jersey

V. Mercer County
Defendant: Larry Fleming [X JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
(Soecify Comolete Nams)
DATE OF BIRTH SBI NUMBER 805357B [J CHANGE OF JUDGMENT
1/16/74 [0 ORDER FOR COMMITMENT
N - T L
DATE OF ORIGINAL PLEA o
ORIGINALPLEA 4 /5g/n3 *Amended 3" count to aggravated
X NotGuitty  [J Guilty arson on May 18, 2004.

New Jersey Superior Court
Law Division — Criminal

ADJUDICATION BY

D GUILTY PLEA DATE:

[ ~own-ury TRiaL

DATE:

Itis, therefore, on 4/2/04 ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the defendant is sentenced as follows:

A jury found the defendant guilty of counts 1,2 & 3.

Count 1- Committed to the Custody of the Commissioner Department of Corrections for a term of 75 years.

85% Rule Applies.
Count 2- To merge into count 1.

Count 3- Committed to the Custody of the Commissioner Department of Corrections for a term of 10 years.
Minimum Parole Ineligibility of 8.5 years. Count 3 is to run consecutive to count 1.

[0 The defendant is hereby sentenced to community supervision for life.

X The defendant is hereby ordered to serve a 5_year term of parole supervision which term shall begin as soon as defendant

completes the sentence of incarceration.

[J The court finds that the defendant's conduct was characterized by a pattern of repetitive and compulsive behavior.

[J The court finds that the defendant is amenable to sex offender treatment.

[OJ The court finds that the defendant is willing to participate in sex offender treatment.

[J The defendant is hereby ordered to provide a DNA sample and ordered to pay the costs for testing of the sample provided.

B sury TRIAL DATE: February 3-5, 2004 [] oismissenzacqunTep  DATE:
ORIGINAL CHARGES
IND/ACC NO. COUNT DESCRIPTION DEGREE STATUTE
03-02-0286 1 Murder ™ 2C:11-3a(3)
2 Murder (Felony Murder) = 2C:11-3a(3)
3 Aggravated Arson oM™ 2C:17-1a(1)
[ FINAL CHARGES
COUNT DESCRIPTION DEGREE STATUTE
1 Murder i 2C:11-3a(3)
2 Murder (Felony Murder) ™ 2C:11-3a(3)
3 Aggravated Arson 2™ 2C:17-1a(1)

DATE: (FronvTo)
TOTAL NUMBER OF DAYS
B<S Defendant is to receive credit for time spent in custody (R. 3:21-8). 664 6/9/02-4/2/04
DATE: (From/To)
[J Defendant s to receive gap time credit for time spent in custody EEELY';MER DATE: (From'To)
(N.J.S.A. 2C:44-5b(2)). DATE: (FromvTo)

Count 1-
75yrs. 85%
Count 3-

10 years/MPI

8.5 years

Total Custodial Term

Institution CCDC

Total Probation Term

Adminisirative Office of ihe Courts
State Bureau of Identification

|
[ itis further ORDERED that the sheriff deliver the defendant to the appropriate correctional authority.




State of New Jersey v. [_an—y Fleming SB..# 805357B Ind / Acc # 03-02-0286

Total Fine §

If any of the offenses occurred on or after July 9, 1887, and is for a violation of Chapter
Total RESTITUTION § 35 or 36 of Title 2C,
If the offense occurred on or after December 23, 1991, an R A mandda;ory D;g Enftircemg‘nt‘:n; 'l.?:;"sag: :::hu)ct'on (D.E.DR.) penalty is
assessment of $50 is imposed on each count on which the imposed for each count. (Write i " s
1* Degree @ $3000 4™ Degree @ $750

defendant was convicted unless the box below indicates a
higher assessment pursuant to N.J.S.A. 2C:43-3.1. 2™ Degree @ $2000 Disorder}

g N ’ 2 " y Persons or Petty
(Assessment is $30 if offense is on or after January S, — e i Pers
1986 but before December 23, 1991, unless a higher — 3" Degree @ $1000 e e
penally is noted. Assessment is $25 if offense is before Total D.E.D.R. Penalty $

January 9, 1986.)
[ Court further Orders that collection of the D.E.D.R. penalty be suspended upon

B Assessmentimposed on defendant’s entry into a residential drug program for the term of the program.
2) A forensic laboratory fee of $50 per offense is ORDERED. Offenses @ $50.

Total Lab Fee §

r Court
minal

ISSED

ated

count(s) 1.3
is $100.00 each.

3) Name of Drugs involved
Total VCCB Assessment $200.00 4) A mandatory driver’s license suspension of
The suspension shall begin today, and end -

per Driver’s License Number
(IF THE COURT iS UNABLE TO COLLECT THE LICENSE, PLEASE ALSO COMPLETE THE

FOLLOWING.)

(Date) Defendant's Address )
Eye Color Sex Date of Birth  1/16/74

[J The defendant is the holder of an out-of-state driver’s license from the following
jurisdiction . Driver's License Number

[ Defendant’s non-resident driving privileges are hereby revoked for

months is ORDERED.

Instaliment payments are due at the rate of

$
beginning

months.

If the offense occurred on or after February 1, 1993 but was before March 13, 1995 and the sentence is to probation or to a state correctional facility, a transaction fee of up
to $1.00 is ordered for each occasion when a payment or instaliment payment is made. (P.L. 1992, c. 169). If the offense occurred on or after March 13, 1995 and the
senlence is to probation, or the sentence otherwise requires payments of financial obligations to the probation division, a transaction fee of up to $2.00 is ordered for each

occasion when a payment is made. (P.L. 1995, c. 9)
If the offense occurred on or after August 2, 1993, a $75 Safe Neighborhood Services Fund assessment is ordered for each conviction.
(P.L. 1993, ¢.220) 75x2=150.00
If the offense occurred on or after January 5, 1994 and the sentence is to probation, a fee of up to $25 per month for the probationary term is ordered.
(P.L. 1993, c. 275) Amount per month §
If the crime occurred on or after January 9, 1997, a $30 Law Enforcement Officers Training and Equipment Fund penalty is ordered. 30x2=60.00

If the crime occurred on or after May 4, 2001, and the defendant has been convicted of aggravated sexual assault, aggravated criminal sexual contact, kidnapping under
2C:13-1¢(2), endanger the welfare of a child by engaging in sexual conduct which would impair or debauch the morals of a minor under 2C:24-4a, endangering the welfare
of a child pursuant to 2C:24-4b(4), luring or enlicing a child pursuant to 2C:13-6, criminal sexual contact pursuant to 2C:14-3b if the victim is a minor, kidnapping pursuant to
2C:13-1, criminal restraint pursuant to 2C:13-2 or false imprisonment pursuant to 2C:13-3 if the victim is a minor and the offender is not the parent, promoting child
prostitution pursuant to 2C:34-1b(3) or (4), or an attempt to commit any of these crimes, a $800 Statewide Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program Penalty is ordered for

each of these offenses

Telephone Number Name (; y for D at ing)

609-571-4135 Vernon Clash, Esq.

Name (Court Clerk or Person preparing this form)

L. Lucas

STATEMENT OF REASONS - Include all applicable aggravating and mitigating factors

This defendant was found guilty of counts 1,2,3. The court found aggravating factors; (1) The nature and circumstances

of the offense, and the role of the actor therein, including whether or not it was committed in an especially heinous,

, cruel, or depraved manner; (2) The gravity and seriousness of harm inflicted on the victim, including whether or not the
defendant knew or reasonably should have known that the victim of the offense was particularly vulnerable or incapable

of resistance due to advanced age, ill-health, or extreme youth, or was for any other reason substantially incapable or

exercising normal physical or mental power of resistance; (3) The risk that the defendant will commit another offense;

(6) The extent of the defendant's prior criminal record and the seriousness of the offenses of which he/she has been

convicted; (9) The need for deterring the defendant and others from violating the law; (11) The imposition of a fine,

penalty or order of restitution without also imposing a term of imprisonment would be perceived by the defendant or

others merely as part of the cost of doing business, or as an acceptable contingent business or operating expense

associated with the initial decision to resort to unlawful practices. The court found no mitigating factors. The court is

clearly convinced that the aggravating factors substantially oytweigh the mitigating factors. Reasons for sentence

weighed and stated on the record. I

Judge (Name) Ju (Signature’ Date

Bill Mathesius, J.S.C. 5/18/04

Adgmenistrative Office of ine Couns CP010863 (rev. 08720/02)
(=N Page 202

State Bureau of loentfication
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YVONNE SMITH SEGARS APPELLATE DIVISION
Public Defender
Office of the Public Defender
Appellate Section IUV 0 5 2.'0
31 Clinton Street, 9th Floor

P.O. Box 46003 ' :
L Yy et
CLERK A~IAIW-OK}‘W

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
APPELLATE DIVISION

IND. NO(S). 03-02-0286

ACC. NO(S).

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, : CRIMINAL ACTION
NOTICE OF APPEAL

Plaintiff-Respondent,
V.
LARRY FLEMING,

Defendant-Appellant. -

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the defendant, Larry Fleming, confined
at New Jersey State Prison, Second & Cass Streets, P.O. Box 861,

Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0861 appeals to this Court from the

final judgment of conviction of murder and aggravated arson entered

on April 2, 2004, as amended May 18, 2004 in the Superior Court,

Law Division, Mercer County, in which a sentence of 75 years with

an 85% parole disqualifier, consecutive to 10 years with an- 8.5

year parole disqualifier; $200.00 VCCB penalty; $150.00 SNSF

penalty; $60.00 LECTEF was imposed by the Honorable Bill Mathesius,

~

J.8.C.

YVONNE SMITH SEGARS
Public Defender
Attorney for e lant

5\'»%;/;’ / M

. LOUIS G. GONNELLA
/ _Kssistant Deputy Public Defender
Intake Unit

G a




Question One

(A)

(B)

) SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, ) MERCER COUNTY
Plaintiff, ) LAW DIVISION—CRIMINAL
)
v. ) Ind. No. 03-02-0286
) Pros. No. 02-1807
LARRY FLEMING )
Defendant. ) VERDICT SHEET
)
February 5, 2004

How do you find as to COUNT ONE of the indictment, charging
defendant, Larry Fleming, with Murder in that he did purposely or
knowingly cause the death of Ellis McNeil or purposely or knowingly
did inflict serious bodily injury resulting in death ?

NOT GUILTY GULLTY / “

* If guilty proceed to Question Two. Do not answer Question One
(B).

If not guilty under Question One (A), How do you find as to the lesser include
offense of Aggravated Manslaughter in that defendant, Larry Fleming, did
recklessly cause the death of Ellis McNeil under circumstances manifesting

extreme indifference to human life?

NOT GUILTY



Question Two

(A)

(B)

How do you find as to COUNT THREE of the indictment, charging
defendant, Larry Fleming, with Aggravated Arson in that he did, start a
fire, thereby purposely and knowingly placing another in danger of death
or bodily injury?

NOT GUILTY GUILTY J//'

* If guilty proceed to Question Three. Do not answer Question
Two (B).

If not guilty under Question Two (A), How do you find as to the lesser include
offense of Arson in that defendant Larry Fleming did purposely start a fire,
whether on his own property or another’s, thereby recklessly placing another
person in danger of death or bodily injury; or thereby recklessly placing a
building or structure of another in danger of damage or destruction?

NOT GULLTY % GUILTY

*If not guilty notify Sherifi"s Officer you have reached a
verdict. Refrain from answering Question Three.

Question Three

How do you find as to COUNT TWO of the indictment, charging
defendant, Larry Fleming, with Felony Murder in that he did, cause the
death of Ellis McNeil during the commission of, the attempt to commit,
or flight after committing the crime of Aggravated Arson or the lesser
included offense of Arson?

NOT GUILTY GULLTY ./




JAMES E. MCGREEVEY

State of New Jersey
—— Office of the Public Tvefender

Mercer Region
Vernon Clash, Deputy Public Defender
210 South Broad Street, 2* Floor
Trenton, New Jersc / {8608
609-292-4081 = Fax 6/-777-0892
E-Mail: TheDefenders@OPD.5 1 ATENJ.US

Daniel G. Giaquinto, Esquire
Mercer County Prosecutor
Mercer County Courthouse
Trenton, New Jersey 08650

Re Stit=  v. Larry Fleming
Tn. ctment No. 03-02-0286-1
Pros. File No. 02-1807-01

Written Demand fc- ' iscovery

Dear Prosecutor Giaquir:to:

The Office of the Public Defender, Mercer Tria' * -gion, Counsel for Defendant in the above
captioned case, hereby demands that counsel be provia=: with a copy of each item designated by

R. 3:13(c)(1) through (9) and relevant case law

Failure to comply with the above demand in » 1 ::ely manner will result in the defendant

making application to the Court for appropriate relief

VERNON W. CLASH
I+ .ty Public Defender

I hereby acknowledge service of this
request for discovery and inspection
this day of , 2003

Assistant Mercer County Prosecutor




@SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT

TRENTON POLICE D@RTMENT

Case Number Source Radio Signal
131-02046942 PU-51

Time Assigned
2215

Time Amrived l UCR Code
2217 {

Crime/Offense/Incident Date Of Crime
Homicide 5-11-02

Victim Trade Name
Arrestee

Ellis McNeil B/m 7-1-1954

New Crime If Changed

“Status Incident

Cl. Arrest

Value

Additional Stolen Property

Additional
Value Stol
Property

Currency
en

LIST NAME ONLY O ACCUSED - COMPLETE IMFORMATIO! A - -
SUSPECTS - RECORD ALL DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST REPORT - EXPLAIN ANY CRIME CHANGE - LIST ADDITIONAL INTERVIEWS OF
VICTIMS - PERSONS CONTACTED - WITNESSES - EVIDENCE - TECHNICAL SERVICES - STOLEN PROPERTY - RECOVERED PROPERTY -

COURT ACTION

Clothing

NONNEW ACCUSED - IN

—Charge #2: Criminal Attempt Homicide

Charge #3: Aggravated Arson
Larry Fleming, AKA “Fruit”, B/m, 1-16-74, 108 Ez:* Ingham Avenue, Trenton, NJ
Curtis Hawkins, B/m, 10-1-66, 214 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, NJ

Nicole Blackshear, B/f, 12-29-77, 370 North Clinton Avenue, Trenton, NJ

Carmen Jones, B/f, 3-1958, 449 North Montgomery St., Trenton, NJ

Ed Warren, B/m, 9-21-48, 50 Escher St., Trenton, NJ
Crystal White: B/f, 10-12-69, 218 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, NJ
Gordeed Singh, O/m, 406 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, NJ
Fire Personnel: Battalion Chief Graham Smith Battalion Five
TEMS: Alexis Duriacher, 11-20-1978, Trenton Emergency Medical Service
Mercer County Prosecutors Office: Detective Lloyd Mathis (Arson Investigator)
Detective Dean McCleese (Homicide Unit)

Arrestee:
Witness:
Witness:
Witness:
Witness:
Witness:
Witness:

' Medical Examiner: Harvey Geibel _
Officers: Officer Ertel, Officer Ruiz, Officer Leopardi, Sgt. Smickiey, Lt. Tramontana,
Detective Sheehan, Detective Pollard, Detective Thomas, Detective McMillan

Detective Sgt. Johnson, Detective Sgt. Gonzalez, Detective Lt. Orsini

Name

Badge
Detective Timothy JH0) Number

534/‘ﬁ
Signature /

Page 1

/[ tkos =71

=
Approved

-~ | 7




TRENTON POLICE DEZARTMENT @  CONTINUATION PAGE
[Case Number: 131-02046942 =

On Saturday (5-11-02) at 2345 hours, we (Detective Pollard, Detective Sheehan, & Detective Thomas) were
detailed to 340 Brunswick Avenue on a report of a fire. We were advised by the dispatcher, there was 2 fatality
within the structure.

We went to 340 Brunswick Avenue and arrived at the scene. Upon our arrival we met with Sgt. Smickley
and Ptl. Ertel and they advised us of their findings to this point. Details of their investigation are carried in the
attached PD —100, which is self explanatory.

I spoke to Alexis Durlacher grom TEMS, and she advised me, Ed Warren told ber he had jumped from the
building prior to the arrival of the Trenton Fire Department. I went and talked with Ed Warren and he told me
he heard a person screaming inside of the building and attempted to enter the structure to help the person..

Upon arrival, I spoke to Battalion Chief Graham, who informed me a body was found on the second floor of
the building, outside of the middle bedroom. Chief Graham further advised . the fir appeared o have been
ntentionally set, but the fire marshall was still attempting to determine the origin and cause of the fire.

I called Detective Sgt. Johnson and advised him of the incident. Detective Sgt. Johnson responded to the

scene.

At the scene, ] was approached by Nicole Blackshear. Nicole Blackshear related to me the following details
concerning the incident. She believed “Peanut” was in'the house, at the time of the fire because he lived in the
abandoned house. Blackshear told me, she saw Crystal White carrying a small red gas can, while she was

walking on Mid Rose St. towards Brunswick Avenue prior to the fire. Blackshear told me, “Curt” knew who
started the fire, and she described Curt to me. : i
I searched the area for Curt, and located him standing at the corner of Mid Rose St. and Brunswick Avenue.

After interviewing Curtis Hawkins, I determined he was 2 witness to the incident. Curtis Hawkins was
transported to Hq's by patrol officers.

Blackshear was transported to Hq's by patrol officers. '

Hawkins gave Detective Shechan a formal statement detailing the incident in it entirety. (See Hawkins

Statement For Details).




TRENTON N.J., POLICE DEPARTMENT
CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION BUREAU

" PROPERTY CRIMES UNIT
the
CASE NUMBER : 131-02-046942
he OFFENSE(S) : Homicide
me STATEMENT DATE . Sunday, May 12,2002
or of STATEMENT TIME : 0130 hours [ }:30 AM]
been STATEMENT LOCATIO . Trenton Police Headquarters
- ——-———— Criminal Investigation Bureau
he 225 Ngrth Clinton Avenue
Trenton, New Jersey 08609
details STATEMENT OF : Curtis Hawkins BM/10-1-66
, 214 Brunswick Avenue
n the Trenton, New Jersey 08650
S
who -
RECORDED BY : Detective Robert Sheehan
Property Crimes Unit
venue. .
WITNESSED BY : Detective Louis Pollard )
By __Robbery Unit
- Q. . Mr. Hawkins, the Criminal Investigation Bureau of the Trenton Police is
conducting an investigation of a homicide that took place on Saturday, Mzy 11, 2002 at
. approximately 2215 bours [ 10:15 PM]nSmeswickAvmuc.Whnmyoutcllusin
) regardstothismatterthatwemnowmvuﬁgaﬁng?
A. 1 was on Brunswick Avenue walking towards Stokes bar when I was q:pmﬂ:bdbyurry i
Fleming. He had a gas canwithhimmdheﬂzengmmetwodoumandaskedmem goto
thzgassmﬁonandgetsomegasforagirlﬂmnwdeditforhzxcar. '
Report '
Q. Mr. Hawkins, what happened next?
———— A IthcnwcnttotheRoadmnnergasmﬁonatﬁxecomerofnrmswickAvmmdSomhnd '
Street and 1 bought some gas for a dollar and fifty cents and I kept fifty cents for myself. IC H—

9+ 16
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Continued Statement of Curtis Eawkins Case# 131-02-046942 '
Sunday, May 12, 2002
PAGE: 2

thcntookthegasandwentbackuanmsmckAvenueandasIgotnearthcalleyby340
BnmswxckAvenue[mytoldmetopmﬂ)egascandownﬂ:ere Larry then crossed over the
street from the direction of Al’s auto body and gave me some coke. Larry then took the can
of gas and walked down the alley and went into 340 Brunswick Avenue. He got into the :
placebygomgthroughthcdoornmemarwhereyouhavetobendovertogctmtothchouse

Q. Mr. Hawkins, what happened next?

A IthenwnlkcdawayandwemtoSmkabarandwentmmdetoplayﬂaepokergame Iwasin
the bar and a short time later I heard that there was a fire outside. I then left the bar and went |
down the street and saw that 340 Brunswick Avenue was on fire. I then stayed in the area
mm'ladctectivetalkedtomemdmcnleamewﬂxepolicestaﬁontogivemystamﬁem.

Q. Mr. Hawkins, whostarryFlemmg andhowlonghave you known him?

A. Ijustknowhxmﬁomthesu'eetandlhaveknownhlmforabomtwoyears Hisstreetmme:s
fruit. :

Q. Mr. Hawkins, I am showing you apictln'eandésldngyou if you recognize the person
depicted in it?

A.  Thatis Larry Fleming. [wnnessxdentxﬁed,datedandmgnedaphotoofLatryFlmgBWl- 3
16-74 ] :

Q. Mr. Hawkins, describe the gas can that Larry Fleming had in his possession?

A It was a red plastic two-gallon gas can with a yellow funnel. = _ -

Q.M. Hawkins, what did you do-with the cocaine that Larry Fleming gave to you?
A. I gave it away to a guy that I know as DC.

Mr. Hawkins, what takes place at 340 Brunswick Avenue?

It is an abandoned house where people smoke crack and use drugs.

Yes, two people stay there and they are named peanuts and Carmen.

Mr. Hawkins, who is peanuts?

<

Q
A.
Q. Mr. Hawkins, do you know if anyone stays at 340 Brunswick Avenue?
A
Q
A

I have known peanuts from the street for about four years, but I do notknowhisrealnnme.é H’
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Continued Statement of Cnrtis Eawkins Case# 131-02-046942
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PAGE:3

Q. M.r Hawkins, IamahowmgyouacxtyofTrcntonwclfnrcxdenuﬁunoncardmdashngyou
xfyourecogmzethepetsondeplctedmxt?

Yes, that is peanuts. [ witness identified a photo of Ellis McNeil BM/7-1-54 ]
Mr. Hawkins, was peanuts a drug user?

Yes.

1 have known her from the street for about four years but I do not know her real name.

Mr. Hawkins, can you describe Ca:mcn?

A
Q

A.

Q. Mr. Hawkins, who is Carmen?
A.

Q

A

Shemashonblackgxﬂ,darkeomplenonwxﬂashonhmr Tomghtshewaswmngadnrk
coloredslnrththhghtcoloredﬂowetsonrtandshetsmhafmﬂw

Q. Mr. Hawkins, is Carmen a drug user?
A. Yes she is.

Q. Mr.Hawkins,Iamshowingyouaphotoandasldngyouifyonmidenﬁfythepenon
~ depicted in it? .

A Yes that is Carmen. [ witness identified, dated and signed a photo of Carmen Jones BF/3/58 ]

Q. Mr. Hawkins, pnort02200hours[lOOOPM.]hadyouobaervedLmyFlemmganywbae
.. else or in the.company of another paxty” e

A. Ysataround930P.M.IwasmtheZOOblockoanmswxckAvemnandIsawLmy
_ Fleming with Crystal White. .

Mr. Hawkins, who is Crystal White?

Q.
A. I have known Crystal White from the street for about three years.

Q. MrHawkinsIamshowingyouaphotoanduldngyouifyoumidmﬁfyﬂnpason
depicted in it?

A. Yes, that is Crystal White. [mmasldennﬁed,datedmdnpedaphotoofCrysalWhm

BF/10-12-69 ] C H
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Continued Statement of Curtis Hawkins Case# 131-02-046942 \

Sunday, May 12, 2002
PAGE: 4

Q. Mr. Hawkins, when you saw Larry Fleming and Crystal White together did you notice
anything?, _

A. Crystal had a gas can and it was just like the one that Larry had brought to me later when he
wanted me to go get the gas. I then left the 200 block of Brunswick Avenue and I did not see

them together again for the rest of the night. I did see Crystal after the fire had started in the
area of Stokes bar, but then she walked away towards Sanford Street.

Q. Mr. Hawkins, whydoyouthmkthatLanyFlcmmgmghthavestaﬂedtheﬁreﬂmtmmwd
in the death of Ellis McNeil at 340 Brunswick Avenue?

A. The word on the street is that Larry Fleming was mad because the people at 340 Brunswick
Avenue would not buy drugs from him.

= -Q.——— Mr. Hawkins, how come the people a:340 BnmswxckAvcmxewouldnotbuydmgsﬁ'om
Larry Fleming? 5 & _

Because he cheated them on weight and he does not give them their money’s worth.

A

Q. Mr. Hawkins, can you read and write the English language?

A. Yes. '

Q. Mr. Hawkins, after you have read this statement over, and if it is exactly as you have told us,
will you sign it, in your own handwriting, acknowledging it to be a true, free and voluntary
statement?

A. Yes.(O /7" )

Curtis Hawkins

Det. Louis Pollard

TSR /N

Det. R. Sheehan




TRENTON POLICE DEZARTMENT @ SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT
~Case Number Source Radio Signal | Time Assigned Time Arrived
131-02-046942 Pu-51 2215 2235
Crime/Offense/Incident Date Of Crime Victim Trade Name
Homicide 5-11-02 Arrestee
_ Ellis McNeil BM/7-1-54
\ Lka 161 Passaic St., Trenton, NJ
New Crime If Changed NJS Status Incident Status Case
active
Additional Stolen Property Additional Recovered
Value Property Value
Additional Currency Jewelry Furs Clothing Auto
Value Stolen
Property
SUSPECTS - RECORD ALL DEVELOPMENTS SINCE LAST REPORT - EXPLAIN ANY CRIME CHANGE - LIST ADDITIONAL INTERVIEWS OF
VICTIMS - pEgNSONs CONTACTED - WITNESSES - EVIDENCE - TECHNICAL SERVICES - STOLEN PROPERTY - RECOVERED PROPERTY -
COURT ACTI!

—Victim- seeabove '
Suspect- Larry Fleming BM/1-16-74- 108 East Ingham Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Carmen Jones BF/3-58- 449 North Montgomery Street, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Crystal White BF/10-12-69- 218 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Curtis Hawkins BM/10-1-66- 214 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Ed Warren BM/9-21-48- 50 Escher Street, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Nicole Blackshear BF/12-29-77- 370 North Clinton Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey 08650
Witness- Gordeed Singh OM/50- 406 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey 08650 989-9044
Witness- Thomas McNeil BM/6-12-52- 73 Race Street, Trenton, New Jersey 08650 278-4157

Officers- Det. Lt. Orsini, Det. Sgt. Johnson, Det, Sgt. Gonzalez, Dets. McMillan, Cadlett, Pollard, Thomas, Lt.

Tramontana, Sgt. Smickley, Police Officer Ertel- HQ/TPD
Other Persons- Dets. McCleese and Mathis- M.C.P.O.

Other Person- Inv. Harvey Geibel- M.C.M.E.
At time and date listed the undersigned, along with Dets. Thomas and Pollard, responded to 340 Brunswick

Avenue per the request of patrol units under the supervision of Sergeant Smickley. This was in regards to a fire
at that location and the subsequert discovery of a fatality within the structure. Upon our arrival we met with
Sergeant Smickley and Ptl. Ertel [ investigating uniformed officer ] and they advised us of their findings to this
point. Details of their investigation are carried in the attached PD-100, which is self- explanatory. Detective

Name Badge Page | of 3 Date Of Report
) i NumberDet 5-12-02
e 1675/414 Time leted | GA Number
Signature /) 2400
Approved B; xtra Copy For,
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CONTINUATION PAGE

| Case Number: 131-02-046942

Il

Cadlett [ ID bureau ] had already been summoned by the patrol units and he arrived on the scene to photograph

- it as well as to collect any possible evidence. Having confirmed the presence of a fatality I then had the radio

room contact the M.C.M.E. and subsequently Inv. Harvey Geibel arrived on the scene to remove the remains of
the victim upon completion of the investigation. Det. Lt. Orsini and Det. Sgt. Johnson were also contacted and
arrived on the scene to assume command of the investigation. While at the scene of this offense the undersigned
detected an odor of gasoline coming from the first floor area of 340 Brunswick Avenue and I also observed this
location to be an abandoned property that was apparently frequented by homeless persons and drug abusers.
Detective Cadlett then handed over to me a black wallet that had been recovered from the person of the
victim. Identification cards in this wallet showed the victim to have been Ellis McNeil BM/7-1-54 and prior to
the body being removed, I viewed the remains of the victim and his face matched with the pictures on the ID
cards. The wallet and ID cards were to be receipted on a PD-102 by this detective for use as evidence, however

other old pers. papers that had been in the wallet had been destroyed by the water and fire and they were

discarded.

Three witnesses were located and interviewed [ by Det. Thomas ] at the scene and were identified as Ed
Warren BM/9-21-48 , Nicole Blackshear BF/12-29-77 and Curtis Hawkins BM/10-1-66. Per the orders of Det.
Lt. Orsini and Det. Sgt. Johnson Mr. Hawkins and Ms. Blackshear were then conveyed to headquarters where
the investigation was to be continued. Mr. Warren was unable to come to headquarters because he had sustained
an injury to his right leg or foot [ possible fracture ] and he was conQeyed to the hospital by TEMS for
treatment. Detectives Thomas, Pollard and I [ Sheehan ] then proceeded into headquarters to continue our
investigation but while enroute we stopped at the Roadrunner gas station at the ¢/o Brunswick Avenue and
Southard Street. There we met with the owner, who was identified as Gordeed Singh OM/50 and he told me that
earlier in the evening he had sold $1.25 worth of gas to a black male that had been wearing a yellow shirt and
had been in possession of a gas can. This confirmed some information that was had received from one of the

witnesses [ Hawkins ] at the scene.

Upon our arrival at headquarters we met with Det. Sgt. Gonzalez and advised him of our investigation to this
point. Detective Thomas then interviewed Ms. Blackshear and Detective McMillan then arrived and was to be
the lead homicide investigator. While we were at headquarters the brother of the victim, who was identified as

Thomas McNeil BM/6-12-52 of 73 Race Street { 278-4157 ] arrived and was advised of the incident. He also

Badge Page of Date Of Report
ecti NumberDet | 2 3 5-12-02
1675/414
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TRENTON POLICE D@ARTMENT
[Case Number: 131-02-046942

the picture on one of the identity cards, that had been recovered from the body, and stated that the

@ CONTINUATION PAGE
: =

viewed

- person depicted in it was his brother, who he identified as Ellis McNeil BM/7-1-54.

Pcrthcordersofm\ysupervisorslt.henrecordedaformalstm:mentﬁ-omCmﬁanwkins in regards to this
maiterandthatstaxementisamnhedmdisself-explanatoﬁ.ThistenceanBOhomandwas

completed at approximately 0330 hours. During the recording of this statement the witness signed a number of

photos for identification purposes but in doing so used the false name of Curt Johnson, which was the name he

had supplied to us from the onset of the investigation. However his true identity was then established and
verified as being Curtis Hawkins BM/10-1-66 of 214 Brunswick Avenue, Trenton, New Jersey. The statement

was then corrected to show the true identity of the witness. Upon completion of the statement, Dets. Pollard and

McCleese conveyed the witness home, and I then receipted the victim's wallet and the photos used for ID

purposes [ during the recording of the statement ] on PD-102s. This concluded my involvement in the matter,

see other attached reporting for further details.

\

Page
3

Name
Detective NumberDet
= 1675/414
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:C COMMENTS

FOR INCIDENT#....02-001539 340 BRUNSWICK AV

22:40:01
22:46:08
22:50:59
22:51:17

23:14:16
23:17:25

23:23:28
23:35:34
23:38:05

01:26:53
02:13:22

DET'S AND WSGT ARE ENROUTE

FIRE PLACE UNDER CONTROL BY NB .

+*LOCATION MODIFIED TO: 340 BRUNSWICK AV

PER NB FIRE ORIGINATED IN 340 BRUNSWICK EXTENSION
INTO 342, 344 IS ATTACHED BUT UNINVOLOVED

R1-SR SUPV 7 OK

REQUESTING SOMEONE FROM PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE TO
RESPOND

COUNTY DET MATHEIS NOTIFIED, RESPONDING

POLICE SGT ON SCENE, OVERH!DLING,‘ILL BE AVAIL SHORTLY

PROPERTY OWNED BY AL'S AUTO BODY 45 WELLER AVE
EAMILTON TWP

ES-LEAVING FIRE GROUNDS NOT AVAILABLE.

ES-SR SUPV 7 OK

Unviewed Optiomns...U,R,I

INQ OK, Page Down TO CONTINUE or F4 TO RETURN

FII..()




_'_--—-.-----—-—---_—--_---—-----_-—----------—---------—--—--------——--------_-_.

FE-T GETTING NUMEROUS CALLS,VACANT BLDG ° :
22:18:22 TALAYA REPORTING SOMEONE INSIDE PROPERTY, AMBU DETAILED.
: **NON CRITICAL UPDATE SENT.BY CALL TAKER: 3785
22:19:51 **UPDATE FROM CALL TAKER 3785 IS REVIEWED BY 4719
22:20:28 NS3E-NS2N HAS CORNER OF BRUNSWICK/SOUTHARD.NS3E RESPONDING
TO BRUNWICK/ROSE ST
22:23:48 NK9-NKS ADV TO TAKE BRUN/SOUTH,WK9 ADV TO TAKE BRUN/ROSE
22:33:46 NWR1-NWR1 RELIEVING WK9 BRUN/ROSE
22:38:30 NSG-NSG ADV REQUESTING SUPERVISOR ON SCENE
22:47:26 WSG-CIB DET THOMAS ON THE WAY
22:47:36 WSG-ID DET CADLETT ON THE WAY
22:53:49 **PREEMPTED FROM UNIT> WK3
22:56:43 NS3E-DET POLLARD REQUESTING ME BE CALLED TO THE SCENE
22:57:28 **PREEMPTED FROM UNIT> NSG
23:01:56 NK9-DIRECTOR HEMSEY PAGED
23:04:21 **PREEMPTED -FROM UNIT> NWR1l
23:07:33 WSG-DIRECTOR GOLDEN NOTIFIED . °
23:08:16 WSG-CHIEF OF ADMIN GEORGE CLISBY PAGED
23:09:44 WSG-CORONER RESPONDING 45 MINUTES

Unviewed Options...I




_~._..------—-----——------------------___--_---------—-----------—-—o——--—-_-_---.

3 23:10:48 **NS3E-ADDRESS MODIFIED FROM: BRUNSWICK AV/BOND ST
TO: 340 BRUNSWICK AV
23:10:59 NS3E-CARMEN JONES S/B FEMALE FLOWRY LONG DRESS A/O
MLK ! '
23:22:22 WSG-COUNTY DET MATHIS (ARSON) PAGED
23:41:37 LARRY FLEMMING LG SKIN 5'5"g WEARING ALL BLK HEAED TO
TRAIN STATION BREADED HAT .FREQUENTS FEDERAL/CENTER -
23:51:29 WS4N-WS4N AUTHORITY OF LT TRAM BRING IN 2 WITNESSES AND
BRING THEM INTO HQ'S
00:03:02 WS4N-TAKING 2 TO HQ'S WITNESS WSRN
00:07:11 **UNIT> WS4N ENROUTE TO TAKING PARTIES HQ'S
00:15:29 NKS-AUTH LT ORSINI THIS ASSIGN IS NOW A HOMICIDE
**CFS CODE MODIFIED FROM: 22AFDT TO 47HOM
; **PRIORITY MODIFIED FROM: 2 TO 1 ( PF# 1963 )
00:28:25 NK9-DIRECTOR GOLDEN NOTIFIED REF HOMICIDE,
00:28:41 NK9-MR GEORGE CLISBY PAGED
00:31:41 NK9-SGT DELLAIRA NOTIFIED , HE STATED DO NOT CALL THE
CHIEF, ON HIS AUTH
00:42:59 NS3E-ANNO CALLER STATES THAT SUSPECT IS STAYING AT THE

------- Unviewed Options...I

_-__--_-----—------------—--------- cemconenesseaseseeceeeeanaaaaaaaas
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Defendant Larry Fleming was charged under Mercer
County Indictment no. 03-02-0286 with first degree murder,

N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a (Count I); first degree felony murder,

N.J.S.A 2C:11-3a(3) (Count II); and second degree

aggravated arson, N.J.S.A. 2C:17-1a(1) (Count III). (Da 1-
3).' Following a three-day trial before the Honorable Bill
Mathesius, J.S.C., a jury convicted defendant of all
counts. (3T108-13 to 109-11). At sentencing, the trial
court merged the felony murder conviction into the murder
conviction and imposed a life term of imprisonment with an
85% parole-ineligibility term under the No Early Release
Act (NERA). N.J.S.A. 2C:43-7.2. The trial court imposed
on the aggravated arson conviction a consecutive ten-year
term, also subject to NERA. (4T25-25 to 27-1).

Defendant subsequently appealed his convictions and

sentences. (Da 6).

refers defendant’s appendix.

refers defendant’s brief.

refers the State’'s appendix.

refers the trial transcript of February 3, 2004.
refers the trial transcript of February 4, 2004.
refers the trial transcript of February 5, 2004.
refers the sentencing transcript of April 2, 2004.




STATEMENT OF FACTS

At about 10:15 p.m. on May 11, 2002, Clifford
Willever, a Trenton City firefighter assigned to the
“Rescue 1” unit, was dispatched to 340 Brunswick Avenue in
Trenton, where he donned protective gear and entered the
building through the front door. (1T52-16 to 23). Once
inside, Willever grabbed a hose line from his captain and
advanced up the stairs, battling fire as he went. (1T49-18
to 55-19). Williver reached the second-floor hallway,
where he found Ellis McNeill. Williver continued to fight
the blaze while fellow firefighters determined McNeill
already was dead. (1T55-20 to 57-2).

Heat from the fire burned McNeill'’s eyes and made the
skin peel off of his face, hands, left leg and back.
(2T155-22 to 158-7). Black soot in his nose, in his
tracheal airways and lungs and on his tongue showed he was
alive during the fire and was breathing in smoke, resulting
in death from carbon monoxide poisoning. (2T158-10 to 19;

2T160-7 to 161-5; 2T162-3 to 14). Investigators determined

someone poured gasoline on the floor by the front door of
340 Brunswick Avenue, trailed the gasoline through the
first floor, including at the base of the stairs, and then
ignited the gasoline near a door in the rear of the first

floor. (2T84-10 to 16; 2T90-1 to 313 »




Late in the afternoon of May 11, 2002, Edwin Warren
arrived at Stokes Bar on Brunswick Avenue. He bought beer
and wine and then went outside to buy crack cocaine. He
saw his friend, Carmen Jones, with whom he sometimes got
high. (1T91-6 to 92-21; 1T99-1 to 7). They went to 340
Brunswick Avenue, where they entered through a partially
boarded back door. The house was abandoned, but Jones and
Ellis McNeill stayed there at times; Jones in the rear
second floor bedroom, and McNeill, whom both Warren and
Jones knew as “Peanut,” in the front second floor bedroom
he shared with a woman named Bernadine. While Warren and
Jones got high in Jones’ room, McNeill was in his room.
(1T93-5 to 96-16; 1T131-4 to 133-1).

More than once, Warren gave Jones money to buy more

drugs or to go to the store. Jones testified drug dealers,

including one she knew as “"P.J.”, actually came into the

house to make sales. (1T130-16 to 139-15). During one
trip to the store, defendant, who Jones knew as “Fruit,”
apprcached her and said “You all a cross-artist.” (1T140-
19 to 142-19). Jones testified this meant “we didn’t spend
any money or anything with [defendant],” from whom Jones
purchased drugs on prior occasions. (1T143-17 to 144-6).
Jones returned to the front of 340 Brunswick Avenue,

where she saw Warren, Bernadine and P.J. Jones and Warren




went back to her room. While they were listening to the
radio, defendant knocked on the door and Jones let him in.
(1T144-9 to 145-24). According to Jones, defendant said to
Warren, "“You are a cross-artist. You crossed me. What'’s
going on?” (1T146-4 to 5). Jones testified Warren told
defendant he had no money and needed a ride home to get
more money to buy drugs. After the conversation, defendant
left and closed the door behind him. (1T147-14 to 148-25).
Warren recalled the conversation somewhat differently:
defendant asked Warren if he wanted to buy drugs. Although
Warren had purchased drugs from defendant before, he
declined this time, telling defendant he had no money .

Defendant then left. (1T97-20 to 101-9).

Jones and Warren talked some more, and then she heard

someone throwing stones up to the window and calling her
name. She went downstairs where she saw defendant, Curtis
Hawkins and her “cousin,” Joseph McKinney, whom she knew as

"GI Joe.” This was, according to Jones, about 10 or 15

minutes after defendant had been in Jones’ room. McKinney
came to 340 Brunswick that night because he could not stay
at the rescue mission. When McKinney entered the house
through the rear door, he saw defendant, whom he knew as

"Mr. Fruit,” from prior drug purchases, standing inside

with a gas can. (1T193-24 to 197-4).




McKinney told Jones he needed a favor, but Jones told

him to wait a moment, as defendant began to ask her if she
needed more drugs. Jones told defendant she was alright.
During his conversation with Jones, defendant held some
kind of a light, and in his left hand, defendant had “a red
can with a yellow nozzle.” Due to the red can, Jones
thought perhaps defendant was going to put gas in his car.
By the time her conversation with defendant ended, Hawkins
was already going out the door. (1T148-25 to 151-19; Tis1-
23 to 153-3; 1T160-15 to 161-4).

Once defendant and Hawkins left, Jones told McKinney
to "go ahead . . . and lay down on [a] couch.” She went to
McNeill’s room to ask for a blanket for McKinney. McNeill
told her to get one from a closet, which she did. She gave

the blanket to McKinney, went back to McNeill’s room to

give him batteries for his radio, and then returned to her

room to get high with Warren. (1T153-6 to 154-21). Before

she could, however, she heard stones hitting the window and

someone “hollering fire, fire.” At first Jones paid no

attention, but when the calls persisted she walkeC out of

the room and started toward the steps. She was “hit in the

face with the smoke and heat” and ran back to her room,

where she and McKinney, who had come into the room as well,

tried to kick out a window while Warren helped by moving




things out of the way. (1T154-25 to 157-9). The three of
them were able to jump out the window, but once she was
outside, she realized McNeill was still inside and could
hear him saying from the second floor “[Hlelp me, please.
Somebody help me.” (1T157-10 to 158-9).

Warren testified after defendant came to Jones’ room,
Warren stayed in the room and waited to come down from his
cocaine high so he could leave. (1T102-7 to 11). At some
point, Jones left the room. When Warren went to the
hallway to see where she was, Jones ran toward him and told
him the house was on fire. Warren looked towards the steps
and saw “a big ball of black smoke and fire.” (1T102-22 to
103-12) . with the stairway “engulfed in flames,” Warren
and Jones went into Jones’ room and kicked out the boards

covering one of the windows. Warren testified he thought

someone else was with them, and he, Jones and the third

person jumped from the window. Warren broke his leg when

he landed outside, and Jones helped him stumble into the

alleyway. Warren could hear someone still inside the house

yelling for help. (1T103-12 to 105-11; 1T112-18-21).

McKinney testified he had gone to a room upstairs

where there was a couch. McKinney started to take off his

shoes and “all of a sudden [he] heard a great big boom.

[Tlhe whole house rocked.” (1T198-7 to 199-13). He




went to the stairwell but met a “ball of heat,” so he

started yelling “fire.” Jones came out of her room but
McKinney told her they could not go down the stairs. He
and Jones went into Jones’ where they and a man McKinney
did not know escaped through the window. (1T199-15 to 200-
13).

Once Jones, Warren and McKinney were safely outside,
Jones saw P.J. and P.J.’'s father trying to enter one of the
side windows of the house. She saw a woman she knew as

“Cherie,” defendant'’s girlfriend, who started joking about

the fire. She did not see defendant anywhere. (1T158-12

to 159-15).

Curtis Hawkins testified he knew defendant from

working with him on the street, whether watching

defendant’s back while defendant sold drugs or directing

customers to defendant. On May 11, 2002, however, Hawkins

was performing the same kind of service for P.J. (1T211-3

to 215-14).

On that day, P.J sold drugs at 340 Brunswick

Avenue, with Hawkins acting as a go-between for Jones and

P.J. and acting as a look-out. Hawkins testified v.J went

into 340 Brunswick Avenue about seven or eight times that

day to sell drugs. On one occasion when P.J exited the

building after a sale, defendant, whom Hawkins knew as

“Fruit,” said “What the fuck that nigger keep running in




and out of there for?” Hawkins testified defendant did not
know he was working with P.J. (1T215-15 to 218-24).

At some point, defendant and Hawkins went inside 340
Brunswick Avenue. Defendant went upstairs to Jones’ room
while Hawkins stayed at the top of the steps. Hawkins
heard defendant ask Warren where defendant'’s $50 was.
Warren denied owing defendant money, and defendant said
“Well, that one more $50 be spent out of here, you suffer
the consequences.” After more conversation between Warren
and defendant about buying drugs, defendant and Hawkins
left the building. (1T219-19 to 223-8).

Between two and three hours later, according to

Hawkins, he and P.J. were three or four houses away from

340 North Brunswick Avenue when Hawkins saw defendant

coming toward him. Defendant had a gas can in his hand.

Defendant told Hawkins the *[l]ady across the street wants

some gas.” (1T223-10 to 224-24). Hawkins saw a woman he

did not know standing across the street and agreed to get

the gas. Defendant gave him two or three dollars and

Hawkins went to a gas station a few blocks away. When he

returned, he met defendant at the alleyway by 340 Brunswick

Avenue. (1T224-24 to 225-23). Hawkins gave defendant the

gas can and defendant gave him some cocaine in return.

Defendant walked into the alley, toward the back of 340




Brunswick Avenue. Defendant had the gas can and also
carried a small flashlight. He went inside 340 South
Brunswick. Defendant was inside for about one or two
minutes, then Hawkins “saw the redness of the flames” and
defendant came out and ran from the area. (1T226-14 to
230-16) .

Hawkins walked out of the alley and stood by Stokes
Bar, about a half block away from the fire. After a minute
or two Jones ran by; Hawkins also saw Warren on the ground.
Hawkins could hear someone screaming inside the burning
building. The street began to fill with people and Hawkins

hollered “Fruit, Fruit, Fruit did it.” An unidentified man

standing nearby said “That'’s my cousin. Hey man, keep your

mouth shut.” (1T230-17 to 233-3).

Hawkins was still outside when police arrived. Det.

Timothy Thomas of the Trenton Police Department approached

Hawkins and saw Hawkins’ shoulders were slumped forward and

he was shaking. Hawkins did not have about him the smell

of fire or gasoline, and there were no burn or singe marks

on his hands. (1T81-6 to 84-13). Hawkine told Det. Thomas

“This ain’t right, man. This ain’t right. Fruit did this

shit.” (1T83-20 to 24; 1T232-11 to 234-14).




LEGAL ARGUMENT
POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION ON THRE USE OF

EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT’S PRIOR DRUG INVOLVEMENT

DID NOT DEPRIVE DEFENDANT OF DUE PROCESS A8 IT

PROPERLY PRECLUDED THE JURY FROM CONSIDERING THE

SAME AS EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL PROPENSITY. (Not

Raised Below)

The trial court instructed the jury it could use
testimony regarding defendant’s prior drug involvement with
some of the witnesses “to gauge and assess the
identification of and/or the relationship between the
witnesses and the defendant.” (3T70-23 to 25). Using the

trial court’s inclusion of the word “identification” as a

springboard, defendant leaps to the conclusion the trial

court improperly instructed the jury it could infer

defendant committed arson and murder based on evidence he

sold drugs. However, the trial court did not instruct the

jury to consider this evidence in the manner suggested by

defendant, and this claim must be rejected.

Because defendant did not object to the instruction

when it was given, the plain error standard applies.

R. 2:10-2. State v. Bunch, 180 N.J. 534, 541 (2004). 1In

the context of a jury instruction, “plain error requires

demonstration of ‘legal impropriety in the charge

prejudicially affecting the substantial rights of the



defendant and sufficiently grievous to justify notice by
the reviewing court and to convince the court that of
itself the error possessed a clear capacity to bring about

an unjust result.’” State v. Chapland, 187 N.J. 275, 289

(2006) (quoting State v. Hock, 54 N.J. 526, 538 (1969),

cert. denied, 399 U.S. 930, 90 S. Ct. 2254, 26 L. Ed. 2d

797 (1970)). Moreover, the alleged error cannot be viewed
in isolation from the rest of the charge, Ibid. (citing

State v. DiFrisco, 137 N.J. 434, 491 (1994), cert. denied,

516 U.S. 1123, 116 S. Ct. 949, 133 L. Ed. 24 873 (1996)),
and a finding of plain error “depends on an evaluation of
the overall strength of the State’s case.” Ibid. (citing

State v. Cotto, 182 N.J. 316, 326-27 (2005)). Because

defendant cannot satisfy the requirements of plain error
review, his claim must be rejected.

Essentially, defendant contends the trial court’s
instruction was a misapplication of N.J.R.E. 404 (b), which
governs the admission of other crimes evidence for certain
limited purposes, among them identity. Defendant notes the
heightened standard for admission of other crimes/.dentity

evidence, see State v. Fortin, 162 N.J. 517, 530 (2000),

and focuses on a single use of the word “identification” in
the trial court’s instruction. However, defendant ignores

that the jury was not instructed to consider the evidence




for the issue of identity in the sense contemplated by
N.J.R.E. 404(b). The evidence was not admitted for that

purpose. Instead, it was admitted as res gestae evidence.
"Res gestae” refers to evidence that explains acts or

conduct of the defendant. State v. Long, 173 N.J. 138, 157

(2002) . In Long, the Court found a homicide defendant’s
statements, related by the victim to her mother, about the
death of the defendant’s mother, were admissible as res
gestae evidence because they were proof of motive and
“establishe[d] the context of the criminal event and
assist [ed] in presenting the full picture of the crime to
the jury.” 1Id. at 157-58.

In State v. Cherry, 289 N.J. Super. 503, 521-22 (App.

Div. 1995), the trial court admitted evidence the defendant
was involved in a conspiracy to rob a bar, allowing the
inference the defendant had reason to be at the scene of a
murder unrelated to the conpsiracy. Finding the evidence
within the res gestae of the charged offense, this Court
recognized “a jury ‘cannot be expected to make its decision
in a void - without knowledge of the time, place cnd
circumstances of the acts which form the basis of the

charge.” 1bid. (quoting United States v. Masters, 622 F.

2d 83, 86 (4th Cir. 1980)).




As in Long and Cherry, the trial court here admitted

evidence of acts which, though not elements of the charged
offenses, nonetheless “"establishe[d] the context of the
criminal event, explain[ed] the nature of, [and]

present [ed] the full picture of the crime to the jury.”

Ibid. (citing State v. Louf, 64 N.J. 172, 178 (1973)). The

State’s evidence showed that, shortly before the fire,
defendant expressed anger over the fact another drug dealer
made several sales inside of 340 Brunswick Avenue; that
defendant tried unsuccessfully to sell drugs to Jones and
Warren; and that defendant accused Jones and Warren of
being a “cross-artists.” This evidence was tied together
by testimony that defendant made drug sales to some of the
witnesses on prior occasions: defendant was angry because
his customers were buying from someone else. This
evidence, “part of the ‘mosaic’ of the criminal event,”

Long, supra, 173 N.J. at 158 (quoting State v. Baldwin, 47

N.J. 379, 394, cert. denied, 385 U.S. 980, 87 S. Ct. 527,
17 L. Ed. 2d 442 (1966)), was necessary to present to the
jury the full picture of the crime.
Unlike “other crimes” evidence, admission of res
gestae evidence does not require a limiting instruction.

State v. Martini, 131 N.J. 176, 242 (1993). Accord, State

v. L.P., 338 N.J. Super. 227, 235 (App. Div.), certif.




denied, 170 N.J. 205 (2001). 1In L.P., the trial court
admitted res gestae evidence but nonetheless gave a
limiting instruction which failed to inform the jury it
could not use the res gestae evidence to establish the
defendant‘s criminal predisposition. L.P., supra, 338 N.J.
Super. at 235. Even though the instruction would have been
insufficient had N.J.R.E. 404 (b) other crimes evidence been
at issue, this Court still found no reversible error
because no instruction was required at all. Ibid.

Here, unlike in L.P., the trial court’s intstruction
expressly precluded the jury from using the res gestae
evidence as proof of defendant’s criminal predisposition:

I'm going to give you a cautionary and
limiting instruction. You’ve heard testimony in
this case that the defendant, Larry Fleming, has
been involved in narcotics sales. Our rules of
evidence in the State of New Jersey limit the
application of those acts and preclude you from
considering that evidence in your deliberations
as proof that the defendant committed the acts
alleged in the indictment.

In other words, you can’t say, Fleming is a
drug dealer, therefore, he committed the crimes
in the indictment. Prior acts can’t be attached
to show that Mr. Fleming had a predisposition to
commit a crime and he was a criminal, and
therefore, he committed the present offenses.
You can - I should say, evidence that a defendant
has committed prior crimes or other wrongs or
acts cannot be used by you as proof of conduct in
conformance with charges listed in the indictment
to show further proof that he had in fact
committed the offenses in the indictment.




However, you may use the testimony to gauge
and assess the identification of and/or the
relationship between the witnesses and the
defendant. In other words, there was a history
of some prior involvement. You can use that to
determine whether Fleming was known to them and
under what circumstances he was known to them,
but you can‘t say he committed a crime and,
therefore, he committed the crime now. I think
You can understand that.

[3T70-4 to 71-6].
Although the trial court was not required to give this
instruction, the instruction was legally accurate, as it
precluded the jury from considering evidence of prior drug
involvement to establish defendant’s criminal disposition.
Defendant’s argument the trial court improperly
instructed the jury to use the res gestae evidence to prove

identity pursuant to N.J.R.E. 404 (b) is unpersuasive. In

Cherry, supra, 289 N.J. Super. at 522, the State offered

the conpsiracy evidence “on the issue of identity.”

Notwithstanding the State’s proffered purpose, this Court

still found the conspiracy evidence was res gestae evidence

and not other crimes evidence. Likewise, the trial court’s

use of the word “identification” did not transform res

This is

gestae evidence into other crimes evidence.

especially so where the trial court did not instruct the

jury to consider the evidence to prove “identity” in the

sense contemplated by N.J.R.E. 404 (b).




The model charge for other crimes/identity evidence,

liberally borrowing from Fortin, supra, 162 N.J. at 530,

instructs the jury to consider whether *[the prior crime]
and [the charged crime] are so similar and so unique that
[it] may infer that the same person committed both of
them.” The model charge cautions the jury not to “draw
this inference unless [it] conclude[s] that the prior
criminal activity with which defendant is identified is so
nearly identical in method as to earmark the crime as
defendant’s handiwork. The conduct in question must be
unusual and distinctive so as to be like a signature, and
there must be proof of sufficient facts in both crimes to

establish an unusual pattern.” Model Jury Charge, Proof of

Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts (N.J.R.E. 404 (b)) (May 22,

2000) .

The trial court’'s instruction, despite including the

word “identification,” did not in any way invite the jury

to make the inference described in the model charge.

Instead, it expressly cautioned against any inference that

because defendant sold drugs he committed the charged

offenses, or that because he sold drugs he had a criminal

propensity.

Further, the colloquy among the trial court

and counsel demonstrates the parties’ understanding,

consistent both with the State’'s evidence and the actual




charge given the jury, that this was res gestae evidence
and a 404 (b) charge was unnecessary. (3T48-12 to 51-8).
Defendant also argues the trial court'’'s instruction
unfairly singled him out as the only person whose drug
involvement the jury specifically could consider. No such
instruction was requested, and defendant offers no
authority for the proposition the trial court was required,
sua sponte, to charge the jury to consider the other
witnesses’ drug involvement. However, assuming the lack of
such an instruction held the potential for prejudice, the
trial court issued an instruction on witness credibility

that tracked the model charge. Model Jury Charge, Criminal

Final Charge, Credibility of Witnesses (February 24, 2003).
Coupled with defense counsel’s forceful summation
highlighting how the witnesses’ drug involvement

“affect [ed] [their] motives, how it affect [ed] their
opportunities, how it affect[ed] their alliances,” (3T19-11
to 18), the jury had the necessary prompting to consider
the witnesses’ drug involvement in its credibility
determinations if it were inclined to do so. See State v.

Marshall, 123 N.J. 1, 145, cert. den., 507 U.S. 929, 113 Ss.

Ct. 1306, 122 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1993) (holding *“the
prejudicial effect of an admitted instruction must be

evaluated in light of the totality of the circumstances




including all the instructions to the jury, [and] the
arguments of counsel”) (citations omitted).

Finally, assuming arguendo the trial court’s charge
was flawed, plain error analysis requires this Court to
consider the strength of the State’s case. Chapland,
Supra, 187 N.J. at 289 (citing Cotto, supra, 182 N.J. at
326-27). Here, in addition to the evidence subject to the
the challenged instruction, the State offered ample
evidence of defendant’s guilt. Of the four witnesses who
placed defendant at 340 Brunswick Avenue shortly before the
crime occurred, three of them, Jones, McKinney and Hawkins,
testified defendant was carrying a gas can. Hawkins

testified in detail how, unaware of defendant’s purpose, he

obtained gasoline for defendant, and also testified he saw

defendant run from the building as the fire started. While

the defense suggested Hawkins set the fire, the State

offered evidence Hawkins showed no tell-tale signs of

having done so when Det. Thomas encountered him at the

scene. Notably, it was defendant, and not Hawkins, who

fled the scene after the fire started. The jury cbviously

credited the State’s witnesses. Therefore, in light of the

strength of the State’s case, even if the trial court’s

instruction was flawed, it did not have the capacity to

prejudice defendant.




POINT II
DEFENDANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY ANY ERRONEOUS
REFERENCES IN THE JURY CHARGE TO “GUILT OR
INNOCENCE” BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT REPEATEDLY
INSTRUCTED THE JURY THE STATE HAD TO PROVE EACH
ELEMENT OF EACH CHARGE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.
(Not Raised Below)

Defendant complains the jury charge diminished the
State’s burden of proof. First, after charging the jury on
expert testimony, the trial court instructed the
“determination of the ultimate guilt or innocence remains
and is always in the province of the jury.” (3T66-23
to25). During the homicide charge, the court instructed,
as to the charge of murder, “You’ll make a determination as
to the guilt or innocence. If you find him not guilty,
then you come down and you consider aggravated
manslaughter.” (3T81-12 to 15). Finally, in explaining
the verdict sheet, the trial court instructed, “If you find
not guilty, then you go and assess the guilt or innocence
of the lesser included offense of reckless manslaughter

" (3T97-24 to 98-1). Having scoured the transcript and
found three references to “guilt or innocence,” defendant

argues the instruction reduced the State'’s burden of proof

and deprived him of due process.




Defendant did not object to the charge when it was
given. Therefore, the plain error standard applies. R.
2:10-2. Bunch, supra, 180 N.J. at 541. *“[P]lain error
requires demonstration of ‘legal impropriety in the charge
prejudicially affecting the substantial rights of the
defendant and sufficiently grievous to justify notice by
the reviewing court and to convince the court that of
itself the error possessed a clear capacity to bring about

an unjust result.’'” Chapland, supra, 187 N.J. at 289

(quoting Hock, supra, 54 N.J. at 538). Moreover, an

allegedly faulty jury instruction cannot be viewed in
isolation from the rest of the charge, Ibid. (citing

DiFrisco, supra, 137 N.J. at 491). Defendant’'s argument

fails, as this Court has rejected similar claims in the
past and, in any event, the rest of the jury charge
dispelled any doubt as to the State'’s burden of proof.

In State v. Medina, 147 N.J. 43, 52 (1996), cert.

denied,

520 U.S. 1190, 117 S. Ct. 1476, 137 L. Ed. 2d 688

(1997), the Court held “[olnly those instructions that
overall lessen the State’s burden of proof violate due

process.” 1In State v. White, 360 N.J. Super. 406, 413

(App. Div. 2003), this Court recognized the obvious
difference between a finding of not guilty and a finding of

innocence. While noting *[t]he injection of the concept of




innocence . . . may tend to reduce the State’s burden of

proof,” the Court nonetheless “d[id] not consider the use

of the phrase “guilt or innocence” throughout the charge

error which in isolation would require a new trial” where
the reasonable doubt charge was consistent with Medina.
Ibid. (emphasis added). The same conculsion resulted in

State v. Vasquez, 374 N.J. Super. 252, 264-65 (App. Div.

2005), where the Court saw “no likelihood” a reference in
the charge to “guilt or innocence” “affected the jury’s
verdict.”

Here, as defendant acknowledges, the trial court
issued reasonable doubt and presumption of innocence
instructions compliant with Medina. Not only that, but in
contrast to a mere three references to “guilt or
innocence,” the trial court reminded the jury several times
throughout the charge that it must determine whether
defendant was guilty or not guilty and that the State bore
the burden of proof. In addition to the standard charge on
presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, and burden of
proof, (3T57-2 to 58-13), the trial court repeatedly
instructed the jury the State bore the burden of proving
every element of each charge beyond a reasonable doubt.

For example, the trial court instructed:




In order for you to find defendant guilty of
murder, the [S]tate is required to prove each of
the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt
i) e Vs One element that the [S]tate must prove
beyond a reasonable doubt is the defendant acted
purposely and knowingly. . . . The other element
that . . . the [Sltate must prove beyond a
reasonable doubt is that the defendant caused
Ellis McNeill’s death or serious bodily injury
resulting in death. . . . Now, those are the two
elements to - that the [S]tate must prove beyond
a reasonable doubt in order to convict the
defendant of murder.

IE, after consideration of all of the
evidence, you are convinced beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendant either purposely or
knowingly caused Ellis McNeill’s death or serious
bodily injury resulting in death, then your
verdict must be guilty.

On the other hand, if you determine the
[Sltate has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt
that the defendant purposely or knowingly caused
death or serious bodily injury resulting in
death, then you must find him not guilty of
murder s

[3T73-13 to 74-22; 3T77-25 to 78-9].

The trial court repeated its admonition that the State

must prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt and, if

it failed to do so, the jury must find defendant not

guilty, when it instructed the jury on the lesser- included

charges of aggravated manslaughter and manslaughter, and on

the separate charges of felony murder and aggravated arson

(as well as the lesser-included offense of arson). For all

of these charges, the trial court set forth the State’s



burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt as to each
element and properly informed the jury it must find
defendant not guilty if the State did not meet its burden.
Inasmuch as the White Court did not consider
references to “guilt or innocence” throughout the charge
reversible error, it follows three fleeting references to
“guilt or innocence” do not rise to the level of plain
error here, especially where the trial court repeatedly
instructed the jury it must find defendant not guilty if
the State failed to prove each element of the charges
beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent defendant could
argue the White Court’s discussion of “guilt or innocence”
in the jury charge was dicta, as the Court found a separate
basis for reversal in part, the Vasquez Court affirmed the
defendant’s convictions while expressly rejecting the same
argument defendant raises in this appeal. Defendant

likewise should not prevail on this claim.




POINT III
DEFENDANT’S SENTENCE IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE,
NOTWITHSTANDING THE TRIAL COURT’S ALLEGED
“HOSTILITY” TOWARD HIM AT SENTENCING, THE TRIAL
COURT’S FINDINGS WERE SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.
(Not Raised Below)

Defendant contends the trial court, at sentencing,
expressed personal hostility toward him. He requests a
remand to a different trial court for resentencing.
However, because the trial court’s findings of aggravating
and mitigating factors and its determination that
consecutive sentences were appropriate both were supported
by the record, this claim should be rejected.

Defendant sets forth in his brief the comments of the

trial court to which he objects. (Db21-22). However,

defendant does not assert a lack of support in the record

for the trial court’'s findings and weighing of aggravating

and mitigating factors. As set forth in defendant’s

judgement of conviction (Da5), the trial court found

aggravating factors (1), (2), (3), (6), (9) and (11).

N.J.S.A. 2C: 44-la. The trial court found no mitigating

factors. The trial court announced these findings on the

record. (4T21-14 to 26-3). Notwithstanding the comments

by the trial court giving rise to defendant’s claim of

hostility, the trial court's findings as to aggravating and

mitigating factors were fully supported by the evidence




adduced at trial and by the information in the pre-sentence

report (Sal-12). Therefore, despite defendant’'s claims of

partiality, there is no need to remand this matter for
resentencing on the basis of the trial court’s comments.
Defendant also claims the imposition of consecutive

terms was inappropriate. In State v. Carey, 168 N.J. 413,

422-23 (2001), the Court reiterated the now-familiar
factors courts must consider in the determination of
whether to impose consecutive sentences:

“(1) there can be no free crimes in a system for
which the punishment shall fit the crime;

(2) the reasons for imposing either a consecutive
or concurrent sentence should be separately
stated in the sentencing decision;

(3) some reasons to be considered by the
sentencing court should include facts relating to
the crimes, including whether or not:

(a) the crimes and their objectives were
predominantly independent of each other;

(b) the crimes involved separate acts of
violence or threats of violence;

(c) the crimes were committed at different
times or separate places, rather than being
committed so closely in time and place as to
indicate a single period of aberrant behavior;

(d) any of the crimes involved multiple
victims;

(e) the convictions for which the sentences
are to be imposed are numerous;

(4) there should be no double counting of
aggravating factors;

(5) successive terms for the same offense should
not ordinarily be equal to the punishment for the
first offense . . . .~




[Ibid. (quoting State v. Yarbough, 100 N.J. 627,
643-44 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1014, 106

S. Ct. 1193, 89 L. Ed. 2d 308 (1986))].

As the Carey court noted, a sixth factor was legislatively
abolished. 1Id. at 423 n.1.

Here, the trial court’s imposition of a consecutive
term, while perhaps not demanded by the Yarbough factors,

does not contravene them. As required by State v. Brown,

138 N.J. 481, 560-61 (1994), overruled 0.g., State v.

Cooper, 151 N.J. 326 (1997), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1084,
120 S. Ct. 809, 145 L. Ed. 2d 681 (2000), the defendant’s
arson conviction did not merge with the murder conviction
for sentencing purposes. Inasmuch as the first Yarbough
factor recognizes there are no free crimes, imposition of
concurrent term acknowledged this important consideration.
Yarbough also demands sentencing courts consider the facts
relating to the crimes.
Here, while only McNeill was killed by defendant,
defendant’s act of arson exposed at least three others to
the risk of a similar fate. Warren in fact suffered a

broken leg trying to escape the blaze. The trial court

acknowledged these circumstances. This is important
because in Yarbough itself, the Court recognized there are

“"cases so extreme and so extraordinary,” deviation from the




guidelines is acceptable. Yarbough, supra, 100 N.J. at

647. 1In State v. Mujahid, 252 N.J. Super. 100, 120 (App.

Div. 1991), certif. den., 127 N.J. 561 (1992), this Court
held the circumstances of the case, in which the defendant
started a fire late at night in a boarding home, resulting
in two deaths and multiple injuries, constituted an
“extraordinary case” and justified consecutive terms.
Here, while only one death resulted, not only did defendant
start a fire in a house where he knew at least two people
were present, he also poured gasoline at the base of the
stairs, blocking the only conventional exit in an attempt
to trap anyone upstairs. It is no stretch to find an act
this despicable justifies concurrent sentencing.

Because the trial court imposed a consecutive term on
defendant’s arson conviction in accord with Yarbough,
defendant’s demand for resentencing must be rejected. 1In
the alternative, the Court should remand for resentencing
limited to the issue of concurrent or consecutive
sentencing so the trial court can more fully explain its

reasons for imposing a consecutive sentence.




CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in Points I and II,
defendant’s convictions should be affirmed. For the
reasons set forth in Point III, defendant’s sentences

should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

JOSEPH L. BOCCHINI, JR.
MERCER COUNTY PROSECUTOR

NSNS

TIMOTHY P. WARD
ASSISTANT PROSECUTOR

Dated: November 29, 2006
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1 (The following is out of the presence of the jury.)

2 THE COURT: Wwe don't have anything before
3 the jury?

4 MS. LACKEN: we can do it before the

5 witnesses go on.

6 MR. HAMILTON: we have noncontroversial

7 witnesses first.

8 THE COURT: we'll do it when we take a

9 break. The witnesses will take us far enough.
10 MS. LACKEN: That's fine.
11 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Jury entering court.
12 (The following is in the presence of the
13 jury.)
14 THE COURT: A1l right. Please be seated,
15 ladies and gentlemen. Good morning. Good to see you
16 all today.
17 I should give you a little bit of a
18 heads-up in terms of another distinction between what
19 you see on television and what you see 1in this
20 courtroom, and that would be the lack of specificity
21 and exactness in terms of time. we don't break for
22 commercials, but we do have logistical problems and
23  things that witnesses are here or not here. There are
24 a variety of reasons, so everything is not so quite as
25 precise.

COLLOQUY

1 You're here well before that, so 1'1]

2 apologize for any delays that might be encountered

3 during the trial. But we will try to keep things

4 moving as best we can.

5 Are you prepared to proceed?

6 MS. LACKEN: Can we have a sidebar, please.
7 THE COURT: Start right off?

8 MS. LACKEN: Yes.

9 MR. HAMILTON: oOn the record or no?
10 MS. LACKEN: On the record.
11 (The following is a discussion at sidebar.)
12 MS. LACKEN: Judge, I have just been
13 informed by Detective Francis that when we were about
14  to start, Captain Multop from the fire department
15 and -- he was in the back. And apparently, he
16  indicated to Detective Francis that his niece is on the
17 jury. Apparently -- I don't know which one is his
18 niece, but apparently, that wasn't brought to our
19 attention yesterday, so now I'm bringing it to everyone
20 else's attention.
21 MR. HAMILTON: My concern is whether he has
22  any particular attention as to the case in general
23 terms. I don't have any problem with that relationship
24 because I don't intend to challenge his credibility.
25 THE COURT: There's nothing of great import
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1 being delivered by the witness?

2 MR. HAMILTON: No, no. Basically, the

3 defense concedes that there was a fire, and also that
4 it appears to have been set deliberately, and that --
5 THE COURT: It just wasn't the defendant?

6 MR. HAMILTON: Right.

7 MS. LACKEN: I'm not sure which juror it

8 is. I could certainly find out to make it more

9 complete.
10 MR. HAMILTON: wWe could clean it up nicely
11 by finding out who it is.
12 MS. LACKEN: I can walk out and ask him
13 which one it is and 1'11 be right back.
14 (Recess is taken.)
15 MS. LACKEN: The juror is Ms. caruso, and I
16  think I remember her saying that she knew Captain
17 Multop. So we have gone through that, so we're
18 covered.
19 THE COURT: Very good. Thank you.
20 (The discussion at sidebar is concluded.)
21 THE COURT: I might add, ladies and
22 gentlemen, that generally we try to get things done
23  before you come in, but sometimes that doesn't work
24 out, so that's why we have a sidebar.
25 Prosecutor, are you prepared to proceed

OPENING - MS. LACKEN

1 with your opening?

2 MS. LACKEN: I am.

3 THE COURT: You may proceed.

4 MS. LACKEN: May it please the Court,

> Mr. Hamilton, ladies and gentlemen, good morning. On
6 May 11 of 2002, the lifeless body of 47-year-old Ellis
7 McNeill was found by Trenten firefighters on a second
8 floor of a burning building. His eyes were burned, his
9 face was burned, and his skin was peeling away from his
10 body. ET1is McNeill was lTiterally burned to death.

11 E11is McNeill was found in a building that
12 was located at 340 Brunswick Avenue in Trenton. It was
13 an abandoned home. It was boarded up. The fire that
14 killed E11is McNeill was not accidental. It was

15 intentionally set on purpose by a man who was out there
16  that same day selling drugs. That fire was set by a
17 man who was angry that other people in the same house
18 in which E11is McNeill's body was found wouldn't buy
19 drugs from him.
20 The fire was set as a payback, to get back
21 at the drug users in 340 Brunswick Avenue who wouldn't
22 buy their product from the man who set the fire. And
23 as Ellis McNeill was trapped in that burning building,
24 as he was screaming for help, screaming for his 1life,
25 the man that set the fire ran away into the night. The
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OPENING - MS. LACKEN

1 man that set that fire, ladies and gentlemen, the man
2 that trapped E11is McNeill to die in that burning
3 building sits before you today, and his name is Larry
4 Fleming.
5 Ladies and gentlemen, you know that my name
6 is Kim Lacken. I'm an assistant prosecutor here in
7 Mercer County, and I am here to present to you the
8 evidence that will prove Larry Fleming guilty of
9 murder, felony murder, and aggravated arson.
10 Ladies and gentlemen, this case is about
11 drugs; the use of drugs and the sale of drugs. Drugs
12 will permeate throughout this entire case. This case
13 is about the greed that attaches to the sale of drugs,
14 the greed that motivated Larry Fleming to set
15 340 Brunswick Avenue on fire, killing one man, and but
16 for the grace of God, almost killing three others.
17 On May 11 of 2002, it was a Saturday, the
18 day before Mother's Dpay, Larry Fleming was out in the
19 area of Brunswick Avenue, 340, and he was selling
20 drugs. 340 Brunswick Avenue is between Stoke's Bar --
21  that's located on Mid Rose Street and Bond Street.
22 It's a residential area. It's an area that has row
23  homes, some of which are boarded up, some of which are
24 not. Larry Fleming was out there selling drugs that
25 day, and he was watching the area of 340 Brunswick
OPENING - MS. LACKEN “10]
1 Avenue.
2 And you will learn that that particular
3 area is an area where local drug users go and they use
4 their drugs. They oftentimes buy them, go into that
5> area, into that building, and they use the drugs.
6 Larry Fleming was watching that area that day, and he
7 noticed that there was drug traffic going on, buying
8 and selling. He noticed that while he was out selling
9 his drugs.
10 And he was angry. He was angry at the fact
11 that he wasn't getting any of that action, that his
12 product wasn't being sold there, that he wasn't getting
13 any of that money.
14 You will learn that a woman by the name of
15 Carmen Jones, who was a local drug user, stayed at
16 340 Brunswick Avenue, even though it was a boarded-up
17 home, and most of the doors and windows were boarded
18 up. There was one door toward the back of the building
19  that some of the boards had been taken off of, and that
20 was the door that drug users and drug sellers would use
21  to go in and out of the building, to sell the drugs and
22 to use them.
23 Carmen Jones lived in a room in that
24 building on the second floor. That was her home away
25 from home, a place where she could go -- she was

}he
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OPENING - MS. LACKEN 11

1 homeless -- where she could go. It had a bed, it had a
2 bookcase in one of the rooms, in her room where she

3 would stay the night.

4 on that particular day, Carmen met up with

5 a guy by the name of Ed warren, and you will hear him

6 referred to as Big Al. She met up with him later on in
7 the afternoon. He got dropped off in the afternoon

8 near stoke's Bar after work. He went into Stoke's Bar,
9 he bought some alcohol, some beer and some wine, and he
10 bought some drugs, and he and Carmen went into 340 in
11 order to do their thing, get high, do whatever.
12 During the period of time that Al warren
13 and Carmen Jones were in that building, they came
14 out -- at least Carmen did -- she came out and she
15 bought some drugs. And in fact, other drug dealers had
16 gone into that house to buy -- pardon me -- to sell
17 drugs.
18 Larry Fleming was watching that all day.
19 He was getting angry. There was money being spent in
20  that building, and he wasn't getting any part of it.
21 Carmen Jones decided to Teave the building,
22 and she wanted to go to the store. She looked down the
23 hall and there she saw E11is McNeill and a woman she
24 knew by the name of Bernadine. she and E11is McNeill
25 were friends. His nickname was Peanut. She went down

OPENING - MS. LACKEN “17]

1 and she greeted him.

2 E11is McNeill was a homeless man too. He

3 shared one of the rooms in that abandoned building. 1In
4 fact, his room was separated by a bathroom from Carmen
5 Jones. And there were other people that would come in
6 and stay, apparently, in the home. Although it was in
7 disrepair -- it was definitely not something that

8 people would normally live in, apparently -- there were
9 couches in there, it was a place where people went and
10 they stayed.
11 Carmen left the building in order to go to
12 the store, and as she was walking, Larry Fleming walked
13 up behind her, and he said something to the effect of,
14  vyou all are cross-artists. She didn't pay any
15 attention, but she knew what he meant. She knew he was
16 angry about the fact they weren't buying his product,
17 they weren't spending their money with him.
18 She went in, she went to the store, she did
19  her business. She went back into 340. A while passed.
20  More drugs were being bought and sold out of that
21 house.
22 At one point, Larry Fleming, watching all
23  of this, decided, hey, there's too much money being
24  spent up in that house. I'm going to go up and see who

is in there.
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1 He goes into the building. Now, you'll
2 Tlearn a guy by the name of Curt Hawkins was also out on
3 the street that day. cCurt was a guy who worked here
4 and there at Stoke's Bar; he would fil1l it with beer.
5 He would watch the people's cars outside who would
6 patronize the bar. He also watched out for Tocal drug
7 dealers; they were in the area, he would watch out for
8 the police. He would let them know if the police were
9 coming, and the drug dealers would give him 30 or 40
10 bucks to keep his eyes open.
131 That day Curt was out on the street, and he
12 was working with Fruit. Fruit, you will hear, is the
13 nickname of Larry Fleming. Larry told cCurt, Let's go
14 up in the building and see what's going on. The two of
15  them went in the building. Larry Fleming went 1in
16  through the door in the back of the house, made his way
17 through the house and up the stairs to the second
18 floor. He pushed open the door to Carmen Jones' room,
19  and he saw carmen and Big Al in there.
20 He starts talking to Big Al, saying, You
21 owe me money.
22 Al says, I don't owe you any money.
23 Larry Fleming says, why don't you spend
24  some of your money with me?
25 Big Al insisted he didn't have any money.
OPENING - MS. LACKEN
1 That wasn't good enough for Mr. Fleming.
2 Come on, Big Al, spend some money with me. Spend some
3 money with me.
4 Al wouldn't do it.
5 Larry Fleming says, Fine. what you guys do
6 to me is going to happen to you. You guys are going to
7 have to pay the consequences. If you want anything,
8 I'1l be outside.
9 And he Teft. He and Curt went outside.
10 Curt went along, you kriow, Brunswick
11 Avenue, went back into the bar, was doing his own
12 thing, and they stayed out for a while. Apparently
13 Mr. Fleming was outside, and he saw the drug activity
14 continue, and he had had enough.
15 So he went down the street and he took a
16 gas can from an individual by the name of crystal
17 white. He took that gas can and he walked up the
18 street and he found curt, who had been in and out of
19 the bar doing his own thing.
20 And he said to him, There's a lady down the
21  street who needs gas, do me a favor and go get it.
22 And Curt looks and sees a woman standing by
23 the bar, and he says, Okay, I'11 go. Goes and gets the
24 gas, two dollars' worth of gas. Curt pockets 50 cents
25 and he buys $1.50 worth of gas and he brings it back to
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OPENING - MS. LACKEN
Larry Fleming.

Larry Fleming grabs the gas can and instead
of walking off toward the lady, he walks off towards
340 Brunswick Avenue.

A1l of a sudden Curt realizes what's going
to happen. This ain't right. what are you doing?
what are you doing? he says, and he follows Larry
Fleming to the back of 340 Brunswick Avenue.

Now, you're going to hear that the only way
out of 340 Brunswick Avenue, except if you're going to
jump out of a window, is from the door in the back that
is half boarded up. Larry Fleming went in through that
back door. He walked through the house. while he was
in there, Carmen was downstairs and she saw him. She
saw him with the gas can in one hand and what appeared
to be some type of light in the other. She doesn't
know whether it was a lighter or a flashlight. She has
no idea what it was.

while Larry Fleming was in there with a gas
can, a guy by the name of Joe McKinney walks in. He
sees Fruit, doesn't pay any mind. He knows he has a
car, sees him with a gas can, doesn't pay him no mind.
He says, Fruit, what's up?

Larry Fleming watches Joe McKinney walk
through the house and up the stairs. cCarmen Jones is

OPENING - MS. LACKEN 1
still in that house too. She's downstairs. She sees
Larry Fleming come in with a gas can, they talk, she
goes back upstairs.

Next thing you know, Joe McKinney, he went
upstairs because he needed a place to crash. Carmen
said, Go down the hall in the living room. There's a
couch, you can use that. 3Joe was also homeless as
well.

He goes down the hall. He takes off his
boots. A1l of a sudden, boom, he feels the house
shake. There was an explosion. He gets his shoes back
on, runs out of his room to the top of the stairs.

Carmen comes out of the room. Smoke is
billowing up the stairs. They could see the flames
downstairs. There's no way that they can get out now.
They cannot go down the stairs because the flame is
coming up the stairs.

So they run into Carmen's room and Joe,
Carmen, and Big Al kick out the boarded window from
Carmen's room; kick out the window, and they jump from
the second floor. They are able to go out of the
window onto a little roof, and then they had to jump
off of the roof, the little edge area, to get to the
ground.

Big Al broke his foot when he jumped.
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OPENING - MS. LACKEN 1

1 Carmen ran to the corner to call 911. And Joe ran off

2 down the alley.

3 But one person didn't make it out. Peanut,

4 Ellis McNeill, was in his room. He either didn't hear

5 what was going on or didn't hear the other individuals

6 Ccarmen and Joe, yelling, Fire, fire, fire.

7 He didn't get out of the house. In fact,

8 while everyone was outside, they heard his screams.

9 They heard him screaming, Help me. Somebody help me.
10 They heard him screaming while he was being consumed by
11 the fire. E11is McNeill collapsed seven feet away from
12 the stairs leading downstairs. It didn't matter,

13 because he wouldn't have been able to get out from

14  those stairs. The fire was coming up.

15 You will Tearn that the Trenton Police

16 Department responded to that fire. Al warren was taken

17 to the hospital because of the injury he sustained when

18 he jumped out of the window.

19 You will hear that a fire investigation

20 ensued. The investigators, along with the Trenton Fire

21 Department, investigated the scene. They cleared the

22 debris and they found that there had been an

23 accelerant, gasoline, poured from the very front of the

24  steps leading to the second floor, through the front

25 room into the middle room into the back room. The
OPENING - MS. LACKEN 1

1 only -- that gasoline was poured in the only area in

2 which the people upstairs could get out of the

3 building. They were literally trapped by the fire.

4 They also found, ladies and gentlemen, when

5 they took pieces of the flooring, it confirmed their

6 suspicion. Not only could they smell the gas and see

7 the burn pattern on the ground, but they took pieces of

8 the flooring and they sent them to the New Jersey State

9 Police for analysis purposes.

10 You will hear from the forensic scientist

11 that did the analysis, and he confirmed in fact what

12 was poured in front of the stairs what stopped them

13 from coming down the steps was in fact gasoline.

14 Ladies and gentlemen, an investigation

15 ensued. The police came as the fire department was

16 fighting the fire. Larry Fleming was nowhere to be

17 seen. But significantly enough, Curt was still there.
18 He couldn't believe what had happened. He was --

19 absolutely could not believe he had just trapped -- he,
20  the defendant -- trapped all of those people in that
21 building and set it on fire.

22 The police approached him. cCurt told them
23  what he knew, and he told them who set the fire, and he
24  told them Larry Fleming was the one who set the fire.

Carmen was later spoken to by the police,
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1 and Carmen gave a statement, and she said when she was
2 downstairs right before the fire, the person that she
3 saw with the gas can in his hand was none other than
4 Larry Fleming.
5 And through the investigation, Joe McKinney
6 was found. Joe McKinney was found just weeks ago, and
7 he, too, indicated that when he walked in the building,
8 he saw Larry Fleming with a gas can in his hand, and
9 within three minutes later, he felt the explosion.
10 Because of those facts, ladies and
11 gentlemen, the Mercer County Grand Jury came down with
12 a three-count indictment, and his Honor, Judge
13 Mmathesius, has read that to you.
14 Count 1 charges first degree murder, that
15 Larry Fleming did on May 11, 2002, purposely or
16 knowingly, cause the death of E11is McNeill or
17 purposely or knowingly inflicted serious bodily injury
18 upon E11is McNeill causing his death.
19 Count 2, felony murder, that on that same
20 date in Trenton, Larry Fleming did cause the death of
21 Ellis McNeill during the commission of, the attempt to
22 commit, or the flight after committing the crime of
23 aggravated arson.
24 And Count 3, that Larry Fleming on that
25 same date in May 2002, did start a fire, thereby
OPENING - MR. HAMILTON 2
1 purposely or knowingly placing another in danger of
2 death or bodily injury, contrary to law.
3 Throughout this case, ladies and gentlemen,
4 as I said before, you're going to hear a lot about
5 drugs. It's an environment that most of us don't know
6 much about, drug users and drug sellers. The bottom
7 Tline, ladies and gentlemen, is a man died in that fire.
8 A man that had no dealings with the man who killed him,
9 a man that was just in a room minding his own business.
10 whatever good or bad he did with the use of drugs,
11 whatever good or bad other people in that house did
12 with the use of drugs, it doesn't take away from the
13 fact that E11is McNeill died because of Larry Fleming's
14 greed. That's what it comes down to.
15 At the end of this case, ladies and
16 gentlemen, I1'11 have an opportunity to speak to you
17 again, and that's what is known as the state's
18 summation. And I'11 point you to the evidence that the
19  state presented to show why Larry Fleming is guilty of
20 the crimes in the indictment.
21 You'll hear from Carmen Jones, and you're
22 going to hear from Curt Hawkins, and you're going to
23  hear from Joe McKinney. Listen to them. Judge for
24  yourselves what happened on that date.
25 when this case is over, I'm going to come
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OPENING - MR. HAMILTON 21

1 to you, ladies and gentlemen, and I'm going to show you
2 why the evidence has proven that Larry Fleming is

3 guilty of murder, felony murder, and aggravated arson.
4 until that time, I thank you for your anticipated

5 attention.

6 Thanks.

7 THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Lacken.

8 Mr. Hamilton.

9 MR. HAMILTON: Ladies and gentlemen, you're
10 normal people. Around this time you must be asking
11  yourself, what can the defense possibly do in the face
12 of such an overwhelming case?
13 Actually, 1it's not such an overwhelming
14 case. There are certain facts that you will know with
15 certainty. For instance, that a fire was set by
16 somebody using gasoline. That's not going to be in
17 dispute. That someone died as a result of the fire,
18 if not by burning alive, then at least first by carbon
19  monoxide poisoning, as reflected by the reddening of
20 the internal organs. And we'll hear about all of that
21 from the doctor who testifies, but directly as a result
22 of the fire.
23 And one other thing, one of the very few
24 things that you'll know with certainty, is that Curt
25 Hawkins bought the gasoline from a Mr. Singh at the

OPENING - MR. HAMILTON 22

1 Roadrunner gas station. Almost all of the rest of this
2 case will be based on the say-so of drug addicts who

3 have some sort of a relationship with each other, as

4 reflected by their presence in or around the crack

5 house, 340 Brunswick Avenue, together.

6 Now, this case is -- is simple in a way,

7 but it's exquisitely difficult in another way. One of
8 the difficulties is because the defendant is a man that
9 you would Tove to despise by virtue of his status as a
10 drug dealer.
11 The prosecutor has talked a lot about drugs
12 1in her opening. I'm sure that none of you are in love
13 with crack users or crack dealers. It's an ugly
14 reality that infests our city, and we do with it what
15 we can to live with it in here. It colors the job that
16 you have in how you see the facts and what you do with
17 the case.
18 I suggest to you that when his Honor
19 instructs you as to the law, he will tell you you are
20  to decide this case dispassionately, without bias.
21 Now, we all have our own personal biases
22 and prejudices. It's okay. That's part of the human
23 condition. we all have our own way of seeing things,
24 and one of those ways, if you're normal, would be an
25 aversion to somebody labeled as a drug dealer.
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But what you have to do is realize that
that individual is not on trial for being a drug
dealer, although emotionally it may feel that way at
first blush. what he's on trial for is murder, felony
murder, and arson. The $64,000 question in this case
is who set the fire.

Now, while you're considering the case, I
want you to keep in mind some questions, along with a
grain of salt, and a healthy dose of scepticism, and a
good dose of common sense. Keep these questions in
your mind.

what, if anything, did curt Hawkins have as
a motive for setting the fire himse1f? what motive, if
any, did Curt Hawkins have to say that Larry Fleming
did? was Curt Hawkins acting kind of as the junior
drug dealer about this time? Had he been helping Larry
Fleming sell drugs to these people? Are you confident
on the nature and extent of that seller/purchaser
relationship?

These are people who are not at the top of
their class and are not bucking for a certificate of
merit here. This is really a gamey city crew we have
here at both sides of the table. You've got to take
what they say with a really healthy dose of scepticism.
what bias or motive might they have to say what they

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN

say if, by chance, it should turn out to be less than
the truth? How would they benefit?

we'll get more into this later. All I want
to do is ask you to keep maintaining the strict
attention you've been giving us so far. 1It's going to
be a short case, but it's a significant case. 1It's a
case where you'll be asked to render justice both to
the dead and to the living, to render justice unto
others as you would have it rendered unto yourselves or
your family, if you would be so unfortunate if you were
to have the finger of guilt pointed at you.

MS. LACKEN: Judge --

THE COURT: A little bit on the summation
side.

MR. HAMILTON: with that, I'11 sit down.

THE COURT: Thank you very much,
Mr. Hamilton.

Prosecutor, you may call your first
witness.

MS. LACKEN: Thank you, your Honor. The
state calls Captain Multop.

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand.
ROBERT MULTOP, STATE'S WITNESS, SWORN.

THE CLERK: Please state your nare.
THE WITNESS: Robert Multop.
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THE COURT: Good morning, Captain.
THE WITNESS: Good morning.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. LACKEN:
Q Captain, can you please tell the Court and
jury for whom you are employed?
A City of Trenton, fire division.
Q How Tong have you been employed by the City
of Trenton?
A 35 years.
Q what capacity do you serve?
A Captain.
Q And what type of fire unit do you work in?
A I work on an engine company.
Q Can you tell me what an engine company is?
A They carry hose for extinguishment of fire.
Q Ookay. Are there different types of units
within the fire department?
A Yes, there are.
Q what other units are there?
A we have ladder companies and -- that carry
lTadders, perform rescue and ventilation. we have the
rescue company which performs search and rescue. And
we have the other units that provide support systems.
THE COURT: Captain, for a fireman, you
have a soft voice. would you mind kind of speaking

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN
into the mike. See if that's on. 3Just tap it.

Q Captain, when was your last tour of duty?
A Last night through this morning.

Q Captain, let me ask you: I'm going to
direct your attention to Saturday, May 11, of 2002.
what engine company were you working with then?

A I was assigned to engine 5.

Q Now, how many people? Engine 5, it's like
if you were to look at it, is it a fire engine we would
all know?

Yes. 1It's an engine company.

Q And you travel in what type of vehicle?

A pumper and fire apparatus.

Q It's a truck that allows you to pump water

Right.

Q -- fire hydrants?

From the fire hydrant to the pumper to the hose.

Q How many men are on the engine?

Right now there were three of us assigned:
myself, my driver, and a nozzle man.

Q A nozzle man, a person who actually holds
the fire hose in the fire?

A Right.
Q Now, as a captain, do you take part in the
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actual firefight, or do you help dictate what goes on
and direct people to their duties?
A I take part, and I'm the safety officer with my
nozzle man at the fire.

Q You'll have to explain that to me. what's
a safety man?

A well, he's on the nozzle spraying the water on
the fire, and I'm right in back of him, directing him,
and also Tooking for any safety concerns around us.

Q Now, you said there were three people --
two people working with you, three including yourself,
correct?

A Correct.

Q who were they on May 11 of 20027
A My driver was Firefighter Brian Sirack, and my
nozzle man was --

Q willever?

A No. He was on a rescue company.

Q vincent Marshall?

A Marshall vincent.
Q That's okay. I know you're tired.
So tell me, around approximately 10:17
p.m., were you dispatched to a fire?
A Yes.
Q where was that fire?

2
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A Brunswick Avenue; 340 Brunswick Avenue, I
believe.

Q where was engine company 5 back in mMay of
20027
A Pennington and Willow, approximately seven blocks
from the fire location.

Q You were working what tour of duty?
A C platoon.

Q what time of night?
A we went from 5:00 at night, and we went to 7:00
the next morning.

Q In the fire station, how are you alerted
there is a fire?
A The 1lights go on and then there's an announcement
over the PA system. And at the same time we have a
printout on the computer paper, printout that shows us
the address, cross-streets, hydrants, things like that.

Q Approximately 10:15, 10:17, in that area,
when you received the dispatch, what did you and your
crew do?
A we got up from our seats, proceeded to the
apparatus, donned our firefighting gear, and we were
out the door in approximately 30 seconds after receipt
of the alarm.

Q what type of firefighting gear do you have
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to wear?
A I have bunker pants, which are long, insulated
pants. I have a Klondike.

Q what's a Klondike?

A A Klondike is a heavy black coat that's fire
resistant.

Q what else do you wear?

A I wear a leather helmet, breathing apparatus,
compressed air on my back, gloves.

Q Do you wear a mask?

A Mask when I go into the fire.

Q Tell us what happened when you were
approaching 340 Brunswick Avenue.

A We were approaching 340 Brunswick Avenue, and I
looked to my right in the alleyway, wide alleyway, and
I saw heavy fire out the first two windows that I could
see. And we proceeded, and there was also an
individual in the alley with an ax, with his back to
me, trying to gain access to the third window down on
the side of the building.

Q when you approached 340 Brunswick Avenue,
can_you describe the building itself? what type of
building was it?

A Two-and-a-half-story, semi end of the row.

Q was it boarded up?

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN
A Boarded up, HUD windows.

Q HUD windows, meaning big white board?

A Big board. The board had burned off the side two
windows at that point.

Q But the rest of the windows, you saw, at
least from your vantage point, were covered with these
thick HUD windows?

A Plywood windows.

Q You indicated you saw someone in the
alleyway attempting to gain access, you said?
A Yes.

Q what were they doing?

A They appeared to have an ax, and they were
hacking at the side window, the third window that was
not burned away.

Q Can you describe the person any better than
"an individual"?

A A large individual with his back to me.

Q It was a man or woman?

A Man.
Q Black or white?
A Black.

Q when you arrived, did you hear anything
coming from the building at that point?
A NoO.
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Q would you tell me what you did, you and
your crew?
A we proceeded to take off one section of fire
hose. we waited for the rescue company to take the
plywood off the front door. At that point --

Let me back up a little bit. we were

standing out front before the plywood was off the door.
I saw in the transom above the front door heavy fire.

Q what's the transom?
A It's a little window above the front door they
had in older houses.

Q So you saw fire coming from the windows

from the side of the house, and you saw fire through
that Tittle, you call it transom, or window, above the
front door?
A Right.

Q Now, were you the first responding fire
unit?
A Yes. I -- we were the first ones to physically
go in the building.

Q were there other fire units responding,
getting to the scene at the same time you were?
A Yes.

Q You indicated you were waiting for a rescue
unit to help take down the door?
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A The rescue job at that point was to access the
door by pulling the plywood off the front door.

Q And while that was done, you were waiting
to go in?
A we were masking up, turning our masks on, putting
them in place, so when the door was opened, we could
fight the fire.

Q Tell us what happened when the door was
opened.
A I witnessed heavy fire in the vestibule or the

doorway, and the stairs right ahead of us. And they
had heavy fire going up the stairs, and there was fire
to the right in the room that we were eventually going
to go in to fight the fire.

Q The home, 340 Brunswick Avenue, what type
of home was it?
A Two-and-a-half-story semi-, end of the row.

Q Looking at the home, where was it attached,

on the left side or the right?
A The left side.

Q To the right of the home there was what?
A There was the alley that we approached first from
that direction.

Q Now, you indicated that Marshall vincent

was your nozzle man?

32




OCONOUVHAWNEK

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN

A correct.

Q He was the first one in the door with the
fire hose?
A Yes.

Q Tell us what happened, what you did and
what he did.
A we knocked down the fire, as I said, in the
vestibule and the doorway. And then we saw the fire,
so we proceeded with him and I as a unit, a team, on
our hands and knees into the room to the right on the
first floor.

Q Could you see anything?
A No. Heavy fire. And then when we hit the fire
and the smoke banked down, I couldn't see anything.

Q Could you hear anything or smell anything
at that point?
A Not at that point because -- smell, because we
had our masks on, and I didn't hear anything. I heard
voices in back of us that were the other firefighters.

Q what did you do when you went into the room
on the right?
A we slowly proceeded in. we hit all visible fire.
when we were crawling into the room, about five or six
feet into the room, we had fire underneath the
staircase that was proceeding up to the second floor on

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN
our left. And we hit that, and we hit the fire in the
room, and then we eventually proceeded toc the second
room and hit that fire.

Q So the fire was raging in front of you when
you walked in. You had to make a right to get to the
first room?

A Yes.

Q The fire was obviously going on in there?
A Yes.

Q You said you hit it?

A we knocked it down with the water line.

Q And then you proceeded into another room

going towards the back of the house?
A Yes.

Q was there fire in that second room?
A Yes.

Q what did you have to do then?

A we continued with our extinguishment.

Q Did the fire go into any other room that
you could see on the first floor?

A Not that I could see. I think the second room
was the only room that we had heavy fire in. There was
heat and smoke, of course, in the other rooms on the
first floor, but that's the only fire that we saw.

Q Captain, if you didn't have that mask on,

33
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1 would you have been able to breathe in that fire?

2 A No.

3 Q Now, what did you do after you knocked the

4 fire down in the first and second rooms?

5 A wWe backed the 1ine out to the first room, and we

6 extinguished spot fires which were still burning, which

7 is considered overhaul at that point.

8 Q what is overhaul?

9 A Ooverhaul 1is considered knocking down the pockets
10 of fire, pulling the molding from around the doors and
11  the windows, upsetting debris on the floor to
12 extinguish 1it.

13 Q Now, while you were downstairs, fighting
14 the fire there, were there other firefighters involved
15 in fighting the fire upstairs?
16 A Yes. I heard them on the -- they had brought a
17 second 1ine in the building, and they proceeded
18 upstairs from our pumper.
19 Q From the time that you actually arrived at
20 340 Brunswick Avenue until the time that the fire was
21  completely extinguished, how long would you say it
22 took?
23 A In our area, about 20 minutes.
24 Q Now, did you ever have an opportunity to go
25 up to the second floor of 340 Brunswick Avenue?

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN 3

1 A Yes.

2 Q when you did so, what did you observe?

3 A wWe were told, before we proceeded up to the

4 second floor, by the battalion chief, there was a body

5 on the second floor right at the top of the stairs, to

6 avoid that area.

7 Q who was that body found by?

8 A I presume the rescue company. I'm assuming the

9 rescue company.

10 Q what did you have to do upstairs? what

11 duties did you have?

12 A we proceeded via ladder through an open area that
13 I think was pulled downstairs that was burned away or

14 was left open, and we proceeded to the attic area, and
15 we assisted with extinguishment of fire there.

16 Q The attic area, where was that Tocated in

17 relation to the stairs that you had to go up to reach

18 the second floor?

19 A Right at the top of the stairs, you could Tlook up
20 and see the attic area through the trapdoor.

21 Q Did you have an opportunity to see the body

22 of the victim on the second floor?

23 A Yes.

24 Q Can you describe it for me?

25 A He was laying with his head against the radiator
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1 and his feet facing the doorway to a room to my
2 right-hand side.
3 Q As you're coming up the stairs?
4 A As I'm coming up the stairs.
5 Q Did you notice any type of fire debris
6 around him or anything of that nature?
7 A He was partially covered with fire debris.
8 Q was the body of the victim removed by
9 firefighters at that point?
10 A No, it was left in place.
11 Q For what purpose?
12 A Investigation purposes, I guess -- I assumed that
13 he had been declared at that point.
14 Q Dead?
15 A Dead.
16 MS. LACKEN: Your Honor, I have S-1, s-2,
17 s-3, s-5, s-7, S-8, S-9.
18 THE COURT: So noted.
19 Q Captain, I'm going to show you a series of
20 photographs. I'm going to show them to you without
21 publishing them to the jury, and then I will ask they
22 be moved into evidence.
23 I'm going to show you what has been marked
24 as state's exhibit s-1. Do you recognize what is in
25 this photograph?
MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN 38
1 A Yes.
2 Q what is that?
3 A The fire building at 340 Brunswick Avenue.
4 Q Is that how it appeared to you that night
5 after the fire had been extinguished?
6 A Yes.
7 Q S-27 Do you recognize what's in that
8 photograph?
9 A Yes.
10 Q what 1is that?
11 A That's the same fire building.
12 Q Different view?
13 A Different view from head on in the tront.
14 THE COURT: Excuse me. You did mention
15 what you called "HUD windows."
16 THE WITNESS: Yes. They're in the
17 pictures.
18 THE COURT: what does "HUD" mean?
19 THE WITNESS: They're plywood which has
20 been placed on vacant buildings. There's no access.
21 THE COURT: H-U-D?
22 THE WITNESS: Housing and Urban
23 Development.
24 THE COURT: oOkay. Thank you.
25 Q Does S-2 appear to be the house at
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340 Brunswick Avenue after the fire was extinguished?
A Yes.

Q I show you S-3. Do you recognize what's in
that photograph?
A Yes.

Q what is that?
A That's the first floor that we were first in in
the extinguishment.

Q Does that accurately reflect how that first
floor Tooked after the fire on May 117
A Yes.

Q S-57
A It's Tooking at the stairway on the left of the
entrance we made in the first floor.

Q And does that Tlook as it did after the
extinguishment of the fire on May 11, 2002?
A Yes.

Q S-7? That's a photograph, obviously, and
coming from the first room you were in?
A Right.

Q what is this room?
A That's the second room we had fire in.

Q Does it Took the same as it did back when
the fire was extinguished back in May of 20027
A Yes.

3
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Q S-8, same room, different view?
A Yes.
Q Okay. And does that look the same as it
did back in mMay of 2002, after the fire was
extinguished?
A Yes.
Q Finally, I'm showing you $-9. Do you
recognize what that is a picture of?
A Yes.
Q what is that?
A That's at the top of the stairs on the second
floor.
Q Looking at that photograph, whac's in the
middle of that?
A A body.
Q Is that how that body looked after the fire
was extinguished back on May 11, 2002?
A Yes.
MS. LACKEN: Your Honor, I request that
s-1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, and 9 be entered into evidence.
THE COURT: Any objection?
MR. HAMILTON: No objection.
was 4 included in that?
THE COURT: No.
Into evidence.
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1 MS. LACKEN: Thank you, your Honor.

2 MR. HAMILTON: was 9 included in that?

3 THE COURT: Yes.

4 (s-1 through 3, 5, and 7 through 9 are

5 marked into evidence.)

6 Q Captain, I'm going to ask you to step down,
7 and I'm going to put a couple of these photographs on
8 the easel and ask you to identify what is depicted in
9 these photographs.
10 MS. LACKEN: For the record, on the easel I
11 have s-1, s-2, and s-3.
12 THE COURT: Do you need any more of those
13 clips?
14 MS. LACKEN: Right now we have enough.
15 THE COURT: Do you want a high-tech

16 pointer?
17 MS. LACKEN: Sure.
18 THE COURT: Just push the button.
19 Q Starting with s-1 for the record, it's the
20 top left side of the easel. can you tell us what is
21 shown 1in that photograph?
22 A It shows the side two windows that I witnessed on
23  the way, proceeding this way, that were burned out.
24  These are the front windows, and this was the door we
25 made entrance to.
MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN

1 Q Presumably, that's 340 Brunswick Avenue,

2 correct?

3 A correct.

4 Q Now, when you were referring to HUD windows
5 before, can you point them out with the laser pointer
6 and tell us what you're talking about?

7 A They're plywood windows put on the structures to
8 keep vandals out.

9 Q At this point, in lTooking at the

10 photographs, it seems that many of those HUD windows
11 were broken out.

12 How did that happen?
13 A The Tadder company has chain saws and they -- as
14 you can see here, this window is cut in half. The

15  chain saw will be cutting the window in half for

16 wventilation.

17 Q In order to ventilate what, the smoke out
18 of the house?

19 A The smoke and the heat.
20 Q when you arrived at 340 Brunswick Avenue,
21 in first responding to the fire, all of those windows
22  were boarded up completely?
23 A Except these two were burned off.
24 Q Now, I'm going to show you S-2 now in
25 evidence, and in looking at that, what is that?
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1 A That's the remnants of a HUD window that was on
2 this window here.

3 Q Now, obviously, that's also, for the

4 record, 340 Brunswick Avenue?

5 A Correct.

6 Q Front view?

7 A Yes.

8 Q Do you see the area where you and other

9 members of your fire department went in to fight the
10 fire?
11 A That door, front door.
12 Q The middle left of the photograph, correct?
13 A Right.
14 Q And that door was cut open and pried open
15 by your rescue company, correct?
16 A Correct.
17 Q I'm asking you to take a look at S-3 which
18 is still on the easel. Tell us what's 1in that
19 photograph.
20 A This photograph? This is the room -- this is the
21 door that you see here, over here.
22 Q One second.
23 Can you identify that?
24 A That is the front door. Those are the stairs
25 going up. we made entrance to this area right here,

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN 4

1 extinguished the fire, kneeling there, and proceeded
2 into this room and back this way (indicating).

3 Q For the record, there are some open windows
4 here, and this area here was the area of the stairwell
5 (indicating), correct?

6 A Correct.

7 Q I'm looking at all of the area here. what
8 do you notice in the vertical, the vertical posts here?
9 A Heavy charring at this point.
10 Q Significant of?
11 A Heavy fire. oOkay.
12 Q And that is reflected also in the various
13 areas in that picture, correct?
14 A Correct.
15 Q when you went in, captain Multop, did you
16 notice any other means by way to get to the second
17 floor in the house, by any other staircases?
18 A No.
19 Q This would be the only way to get up to and
20 down from the second floor?
21 A Correct.
22 Q I ask you to take a look at $-5 that is now
23 in evidence. can you describe for the jury what is
24 depicted in that photograph?
25 A Heavy charring. This was the stairway underneath
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1 the stairs which, when we came in, this was all burned
2 away. And when we were coming in, we hit the fire

3 here, and then we proceeded to this doorway here. we
4 proceeded into the back.

5 Q S-7, do you recognize what's in that

6 photograph?

7 A Yes.

8 Q In Tooking at S-5 -- you can't really see

9 it here -- there's a wall with a doorway, correct?
10 A correct.
11 Q That doorway is this doorway?
12 A Correct.
13 Q The front room leads into the room you see
14 in S-7?
15 A Correct.
16 Q In that room you also indicated that you
17 had to fight the fire, correct?
18 A Correct.
19 Q A1l right. Did you proceed into and
20  through this room into another room?
21 A No.
22 Q Did you check the other rooms to see
23 whether or not there was any fire?
24 A Yes.
25 Q And there was none that needed your service

MULTOP - DIRECT - LACKEN 46

1 at that time?

2 A No.

3 Q S-8 in evidence, what do you see in that?

4 A This is another room. This is one of the windows
> on_the side of the building that was burning when we
6 pulled up.

7 Q In that photograph there's depicted all of
8 the fire damage to the walls, et cetera?

9 A Correct.
10 Q Finally, s-9, do you recognize what's in
11  that photograph?
12 A Yes.
13 Q what is that?
14 A It's the hallway on the second floor, and the
15 stairway would have been over here. I'm assuming this
16 was taken down the hallway facing the back and the
17 stairway. There's a ladder over here; that was the
18 Tadder we used to go up to the cock loft.
19 Q That Toft is basically an attic or third
20 floor?
21 A An attic.
22 Q The area in here where you indicated in the
23 middle or bottom of the photograph, that's the victim?
24 A Yes.
25 Q That's how he was when the fire was
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extinguished?
A Yes.
Q From what you can see on the ground and
around him, was that fire debris?
A Fire debris.
Q Thank you. You may be seated.
MS. LACKEN: If I can have a moment, your
Honor.
THE COURT: Sure.
MS. LACKEN: Thank you, your Honor.
Captain.

Your Honor, I have no further questions.

THE COURT: Cross-examine.

MR. HAMILTON: No questions for the
Captain. And thank you for your service.

(The witness is excused.)

THE COURT: You may call your next witness.

MS. LACKEN: Thank you, your Honor.

Your Honor, the state calls Cliff willever,
firefighter.
CLIFFORD WILLEVER, STATE'S WITNESS,
SWORN.

THE CLERK: State your name.
THE WITNESS: Clifford willever.
THE COURT: Prosecutor.

WILLEVER - DIRECT - LACKEN
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. LACKEN:

Q Good morning.
A Good morning.

Q Firefighter willever, for whom are you
employed?

A City of Trenton.
Q How Tong have you been employed with
Trenton?
A 12 years.
Q what capacity are you employed?
A As a firefighter.
Q And what unit or engine company or rescue
company are you involved with?
A I work for rescue 1.
Q what's rescue 1?
A Rescue 1 is the only rescue company in the city.

It's primarily a manpower unit. Wwe respond to every
house fire in the city, along with other various jobs.

Q when was your last tour of duty?
A Last night.

Q As a member of the rescue unit, do you take
part in actual firefighting?
A Yes.

Q what are your duties and responsibilities?

A Primary -- okay. An engine company's primary job
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is to put water on the fire. Ladder company is to --
to make entry into the building, forced entry and
ventilation. The rescue company kind of assists in --
in whatever they need, according to the battalion
chief. And then most of the time we go in and do a
search.

Q when you say you "do a search," can you
describe what you mean?
A we'll follow the engine company in and do a
primary search, which is more or less a rapid search,
rapid yet thorough. we don't ever rely on -- we always
search every building no matter what we do. we don't
rely on people saying it's empty. Automatically, we do
a search of the entire building.

Q And you're Tooking for people and things?
A Anything. People, problems that firefighters
could run into.

Q I'm going to direct your attention to
May 11, 2002, somewhere around 10:15 p.m., give or take
a couple minutes.

wWere you dispatched to a fire at

340 Brunswick Avenue?
A Yes.
where was rescue 1 located back in May of

Q
20027
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A 244 Perry Street.

Q when your rescue unit is dispatched, how
many people normally go?
A Five.

Q Do you remember who was working with you
back in mMay of 20027
A Yes.

Q who was working with you?
A Captain Nick Doura was the man in charge; Gary

Sabo was the driver; myself; and charlie Metzger,
Firefighter Metzger:; and Firefighter Ronald Ettenger.

Q Do you wear the same firefighting gear that
people on engines and ladder companies wear?
A Yes, yes.

Q Now, what happened when you received the
dispatch there was a fire at 340 Brunswick Avenue?
A we get dressed, we get in the truck, and we
respond.

Q Part of your garb is breathing apparatus?
A Yes.

Q Tell us what happened when you arrived at
340 Brunswick Avenue.
A We arrived at 340. we pulled past engine 5,
parked to the left to get out of the way, because our
rescue truck -- like, engines and ladders, engines have
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1 hose and water, ladders have ladders. Rescue has us

2 guys and all kinds of specialty equipment we don't use

3 for house fires. A few things. we can get out of the

4 way. We want to be able to, when the fire is under

5 control, to break free for the next assignment.

6 Q As you're approaching 340 Brunswick Avenue,

7 do you see anything?

8 A Yes.

9 Q Tell me what you saw with regard to the
10 house and the surroundings.

11 A when we got -- when I got off the truck, I walked

12 up, I seen fire first floor right above the door.

13  There's a little, like, I don't know what you would

14 call, a little opening above the door. I could see

15 fire through there. I walked past the building to look

16 down the alley on side D.

17 Q Which is the side of the house?

18 A Yes. The alley side of the house, that's side D.

19 I basically do that to size up the building, to see

20 when I get in there, if I have to get out, how am I

21 going to get out if I can't get out the way I went in.

22 Q when you first went to size up the

23 building, did you see any areas that weren't boarded up

24  at that point?

25 A No. The entire building was boarded up, from my
WILLEVER - DIRECT - LACKEN

1 perspective.

2 Q From your perspective.

3 when you were doing your sizing up, did you

4 see anyone else in the area?

5 A Yes. I did see a man about -- on side D about

6 halfway down the alley, trying to get in the door.

7 Q what door were you talking about? was it a

8 door?

9 A Yeah, I think it was a door, about halfway down.
10 A white door.

11 Q How was he trying to get in, do you
12 remember?

J A He was chopping it with something; he was hitting
14 it with something. I don't know. I didn't get close
15 enough. I stayed out front.

16 Q So after making this first assessment, what
17 did you do?

18 A I went back to the front of the house and I

19 started putting on my mask, getting ready to go into
20  the building. Put on my face piece -- turned the air
21 on, put my face piece on, and get ready to go in.

22 Q what happened from there?

23 A I went in the front door. The engine company

24  went straight in, a little bit to the right. I went
25 along the front wall and made a right-hand search,
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I

1 primary search of the first floor front room.

2 Q Now, the information that you had received

3 going to that house fire, did you receive any

4 information that there might be people inside?

5 A Not that I recall.

6 Q So you didn't know whether or not there

7 were people in the building or not?

8 A No. We automatically do a primary search,

9 whether we get told somebody is in there or not.
10 That's automatic.
11 Q You went inside, and you did a search?
12 A I did a right search. As I was doing a right
13 search, I remember climbing over stuff, and I didn't
14 find anyone at that time.
15 I got to the front room, there was the
16 front door, and then the room going to the second room
17 of the first floor between there. And I got to that
18 door, I ran into the engine company. They were making
19 it into the second room.
20 Q when you were going into that room, could
21 you see anything?
22 A No. It's just black smoke.
23 Q Black smoke?
24 A Just heavy smoke, real heavy smoke.
25 Q Did you have to remain behind the engine

WILLEVER - DIRECT - LACKEN

1 company, obviously, not to go into the fire?

2 A Yes.

3 Q You didn't have a fire hose with you at

4 that time?

5 A I am just doing the search. I have a tool which
6 is probably an ax which I use in my search.

7 Q You could feel the heat?

8 A Yeah, it was hot in there.

9 Q Tell me what happened after you got -- made
10  your sweep of that first room.
11 A I got to the engine company. I went in that room
12 a Tlittle bit. I realized they were starting to get a
13 good handle on it, on the second room, and I went to
14  Firefighter Ettenger. I said, Ron, we're going to try
15  to make the second floor.
16 Q what happened?
17 A At that time I went back to the front door, and
18 when I got to front door, I ran into my captain, which
19 is Captain Doura, he had the second line. Anytime we
20 go into a building, the first line goes in, fights the
21 fire. There always has to be a second line in case
22 something happens to the first line.
23 Q what happened?
24 A I ran into that, I ran into him. He had that
25 line. I took that line off of him, the hose line,
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1 dinch-and-three-quarter hose Tine, and I started
2 advancing up the steps.
3 Q when you say advancing up the stairs, was
4 there still fire on the stairs and up the stairs?
5 A Not so much on the stairs, but above the stairs.
6 Q Did anyone else go up the stairs with you?
7 A Yes. We never work alone. Firefighter Ettenger
8 and captain Doura came with me.
9 Q what about Firefighter Metzger?
10 A That's who I mean, Firefighter Metzger. Not
11 Ettenger, he was still on the first floor.
12 Q As you're proceeding up the stairs, what
13 are you doing?
14 A Knocking the fire down. At that point, I'm --
15 once I took that 1ine, now I become more or less an
16 engine man.
17 Q You're knocking the fire down. You mean
18 you're spraying water all over the fire?
19 A Yes.
20 Q Tell me what you did from there.
21 A At that time I got to the top of the steps. 1
22 went a little bit right and finished that room, like,
23  hit the fire in that room. And at that time, I was at
24  the top of the steps a little to the right. charlie
25 Metzger, Firefighter Metzger, was right behind me.
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1 I made the left, and I started advancing
2 down the hallway.
3 Q what happened as you were making your
4 advance?
5 A That's when I ran into the victim.
6 Q Okay. That's when you discovered Ellis
7 McNeili?
8 A Yes.
9 Q Tell me how you discovered him?
10 A I remember I had the line shut down at the time
11 because I was looking for the fire, trying to feel it.
12 You can't see it, you can feel L.
13 At that time I turned to Charlie Metzger
14 and I said, charlie, I think I have something here. I
15 think I have something here. And that's when we
16 confirmed it was somebody.
17 Q Now, what was your responsibility from
18 there?
19 A I had the hose line. My job is to continue to
20 fight the fire, because somebody is tending to the
21  victim.
22 Q who was tending to the victim?
23 A At that time, it was Firefighter Metzger and
24 captain Nick Doura.
25 Q And they made a determination at that point
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the victim was dead?
A Yes.

Q where you did have to go to continue
fighting the fire?
A At that time the fire was pretty much knocked
down on the second floor, and somebody boosted me to
the third floor, and I continued to fight the fire in
the third floor attic space. There was no steps.

Q No steps?
A NO steps. It was just right at the top of the
steps, there was a little hole where it should have
been pull-down steps, 1 guess,

Q Now, was there -- there was active fire on
that third floor or that attic area?
A Yes.

Q How long would you say it took you from

start to finish, when you first arrived at
340 Brunswick Avenue, to the end of when the fire was
extinguished?

A I would say at least 25 minutes, I would say,
because I get about 25 minutes out of a bottle. And 1
was still on the first bottle, but it was -- it did go
off.

Q when you say "bottle," what are you

referring to?

i
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A My air bottle on my back. They're a 30-minute
bottle. when you're working, you can get 20 to 25. I
normally get 25 out of a bottle, working hard. And on
the third floor I remember I ran out of air, but by
then, they had the roof open and it was right there.
It was in the attic, and I kind of went out there.

MS. LACKEN: I think the only new ones are
S-11 and s-35.

THE COURT: S-11 and s-35. Okay, fine.

Q First I want to show you two pictures and
ask you if you recognize them, and 1 will ask if they
can be moved into evidence.

I'm showing you S-11. Do you recognize
what that is?
A Yes.
Q what is that?
A That's the alleyway next to 340.

Q Keep your voice up.

Does that look the way it did the night of
May 11, 20027
A when I walked down -- when I Tooked down the
alley, this was still intact. This board was up higher
and it was intact.

Q The board to a doorway that's in the middle
of the picture?
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1 A Yes.
2 Q I'm going to show you S-35. Do you
3 recognize what that is?
4 A Yes.
5 Q what is that?
6 A That's the top landing, the hallway on the second
7 floor at the top of the steps.
8 Q Does this Tlook to be accurate, an accurate
9 depiction of how that hallway looked after the fire was
10  extinguished on May 11th?
11 A Yes.
12 MS. LACKEN: Your Honor, I ask that s-11
13 and s-35 be moved into evidence.
14 MR. HAMILTON: No objection.
15 THE COURT: 1Into evidence.
16 (s-11 and s-35 are marked into evidence.)
17 MS. LACKEN: If your Honor doesn't mind,
18 I'11 leave the easel here.
19 Q Firefighter willever, if you would step
20 down so you don't block the view, I'm going to ask you
21  to look at what has been previously entered into
22 evidence as s-1.
23 Do you recognize what is in that
24  photograph?
25 A Yes. 1It's 340 Brunswick Avenue.
WILLEVER - DIRECT - LACKEN 60|
1 Q I need you to keep your voice up so they
2 can hear you.
3 A It's 340 Brunswick Avenue.
4 Q Can you show us the area where you saw the
5> individual trying to get into the side of the building
6 when you first arrived?
7 A Right there, right in that little doorway.
8 Q Okay. Now --
9 A It was previously boarded up.
10 Q I'm showing you s-11.
11 A Yes.
12 Q Basically, what is this picture?
13 THE COURT: Firefighters, you have to keep
14 your voice up. Firefighters are very soft-spoken.
15 A Right here is the side of 340 Brunswick Avenue,
16 and that's where, when I was out front here, I noticed
17 a man trying to break into the window.
18 Q Trying somehow to gain access to that
19 building during the fire?
20 A Yes.
21 Q Now, you had indicated previously that this
22  white door was not in that position when you first
23 arrived?
24 A NOo. It was intact; it was up on the door.
25 Q So -- suffice it to say that all of this
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1 boarding, at least in the lower floor, was over the

2 doors and windows?

3 A Yes.

4 Q S-5 is already up on the easel, and it's 1in
5 evidence. Do you recognize what's in s-5?

6 A Yes, that's the front room of 340 Brunswick

7 Avenue, first floor, front room.

8 Q And in s-3, do you recognize that?

9 A It's the same scene, different angle, first
10 floor, front room.

11 Q That's the area where you entered into the
12 house?
13 A Yes, right there.
14 Q Now, as -- after you did the sweep of the
15 room that you indicated on the right, and am I correct
16 in saying this room over here was the first room that
17  you swept?
18 A Yes. I swept around the right this way
19 (indicating).
20 Q And then you went into the second room?
21 A Yes.
22 Q You had to go up these stairs to gain
23  access to the second floor?
24 A Yes.
25 Q And when you went up there, you indicated
WILLEVER - DIRECT - LACKEN

1 you took the fire line and you fought the fire up

2 there. And then as you were fighting the fire, you ran
3 1into -- I'11 move it up -- what we now know was Ellis
4 McNeill, correct?

5 A Yes.

6 Q I'm showing you S-9. Do you recognize what
7 was depicted in that photograph?

8 A Yes. That's the hallway in the second floor.

9 Q Okay.
10 A The steps are right there (indicating).
11 Q In order to get to the back of the house,
12 how would you have to proceed?
13 A I proceeded over top of them that way.
14 Q Now, in the middle of this photograph, what
15 do you see?
16 A There's the victim right there (indicating).
17 Q Is that how Mr. McNeill looked after the
18 smoke cleared?
19 A Yes.
20 Q All right. Now I'm showing you s-35. Do
21  you recognize what's in that photograph?
22 A Yes. That's the opposite, looking down the hall
23 the opposite way --
24 Q Now --
25 A -- the second floor.
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Q -- 1in the middle of the photograph there's
a doorway structure. what is that doorway?
A That's the doorway leading to the steps to the
first floor.
Q You'd have to go down there to the first
floor?
A Yes.
Q when you said you came up and started
fighting the fire in the first room, or you made a
quick right, where did you fight the fire?

A Right there. I came up the steps and made a
right, and I stopped right there (indicating).
Q And in -- in s-35, is that the position in

which the victim was found after the smoke cleared?
A Yes.
Q A1l of this, I guess, stuff around McNeill,

that's fire debris?
A Yes.

MS. LACKEN: Thank you, your Honor. I have
no further questions.

THE COURT: Cross-examine.

MR. HAMILTON: No questions. Thank you for
your service.

THE COURT: Thank you, Firefighter. You
may step down.

COoLLOQUY
(The witness is excused.)

THE COURT: You may step down. Your
beverages are here. Dpon't talk about the case while
you're together. Enjoy your break. we'll get you back
pretty soon. Thank you.

(The following is out of the presence of
the jury.)

THE COURT: A1l right. we'll take 15
minutes.

MS. LACKEN: Before the next witnesses, I
have to go over those certifieds.

THE COURT: Do you have time to do it now?

MS. LACKEN: I can.

THE COURT: why don't we -- before you take
Mr. Fleming, why don't we go over the certifieds right
now.

MS. LACKEN: oOkay. For purposes of the
Sands hearing, I'11 start with Larry Fleming, your
Honor, should he choose to testify.

For Larry Fleming, he has a series of prior
convictions. Let me just get my pad, one of my many.
Okay. Mr. Fleming has five prior

convictions. He has one under Indictment 93-03-005,
fourth degree resisting arrest. And he was sentenced
4-16-93 to two years' probation.
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1 He also has Indictment 93-05-0566, which is
2 a possession of CDS charge, third degree. He was
3 sentenced on September 10 of '96. Basically, he was
4 given three years' probation, conditioned upon
> weekends. Now, that sentence was -- he violated that
6 probation and apparently was resentenced on March 1 of
7 '96 to four years in prison, and it was concurrent to a
8 couple other indictments, 94-05-0577, and 94-12-257.
9 Now, 94-05-0577 was a charge of attempted
10 theft, third degree. He was sentenced on that same
11 date, March 1 of '96, four years -- four years'
12 incarceration.
13 Also, another possession of cDs charge,
14  third degree, that was 94-12-57, received four
15 years for that as well.
16 And then finally, on January 10 of 1997, he
17 was sentenced to a charge of distribution in a school
18  zone under 96-07-0815, and he received three with a two
19 MPI, concurrent to all of his violations.
20 I would suggest, your Honor, that all of
21 those are within a relatively recent period of time.
22  And I would suggest they are convictions that the state
23  can go into should he take the stand. There's no need
24  for sanitization here because he's charged with arson,
25 murder, and felony murder. So I submit all of these
coLLoQuy 6
1 convictions can be delved into if he should take the
2 stand.
3 THE COURT: Any objection to any of those?
4 MR. HAMILTON: The only grounds for
5 objection we have is some remoteness argument. The '96
6 case is not quite ten years old, and the rest are
7 younger. But beyond that, Judge, I'11 submit.
8 THE COURT: They will be permissible to be
9 used by the prosecution for cross-examination.
10 MS. LACKEN: A1l right.
11 With regard to the state witnesses, I have
12 an individual by the name of Joe McKinney, and he does
13 have some prior convictions. He has a conviction for
14  fourth-degree endangering in 1987. He received 18
15 months imprisonment.
16 MR. HAMILTON: '87 or '97?
17 MS. LACKEN: '87. 18 months, and 1'11
18 double-check. Do you think it's '97?
19 MR. HAMILTON: No, I just misheard.
20 MS. LACKEN: 18 months consecutive to any
21 VOPs he had.
22 I Tooked, your Honor. I couldn't find
23  those. That was Indictment 86-03-0722.
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